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Ottawa, Ontario

—-—— Upon commencing on Monday, October 17, 2022, at 9:29 a.m.

THE REGISTRAR: A 1’ordre. Order.

The Public Order Emergency Commission is now in
session. La Commission sur 1’état d’urgence est maintenant
ouverte.

COMMISSIONER ROULEAU: Good morning. Bonjour.
Day three. Looks like a very interesting week. On a des

témoins intéressants cette semaine. Alors, Jje pense que c’est la

Commission qui convogque un nouveau témoin.

Rodriguez.

Est-

MS.

Natalia Rodriguez,

ce que vous étes préte? D’accord, Madame

NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Bonjour, good morning.

senior Commission Counsel. And Commission

would like to call Steve Kanellakos.

Kanellakos.

Commissioner.

COMMISSIONER ROULEAU: Okay. Good morning, Mr.

MR.

THE

STEVE KANELLAKOS: Good morning, Mr.

REGISTRAR: Mr. Kanellakos, will you swear on

a religious document, or do you wish to affirm?

Tora available.

right hand.

MR.

THE

MR.

THE

For

STEVE KANELLAKOS: Religious document.

REGISTRAR: We have the Bible, the Quran, the

STEVE KANELLAKOS: The Bible.

REGISTRAR: Please take the Bible in your

the record, please state your full name and

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.
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spell it out.
MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Steve Kanellakos, K-A-N-E-
L-L-A-K-0-S.

--- MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS, Sworn:

THE REGISTRAR: Thank you.
MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Thank you.
COMMISSIONER ROULEAU: Go ahead.

-—-— EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ:

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Good morning, Mr.
Kanellakos.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Good morning.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Nice to see you again.
Can you confirm your position with the City of Ottawa?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I'm the City Manager for
the City of Ottawa.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And as City Manager, I
understand you're the most senior public servant in the
administration; is that right?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That's correct.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And you've held this
position since May of 200672

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: No, May of 2016.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: 'l6, sorry. My mistake.
And you had an interview with Commission Counsel on August 17th
of this year; correct?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That's correct.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And have you had a chance

to review the summary of that interview?

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.
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3 KANELLAKOS
In-Ch (Rodriguez)

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I did.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Right. Do you have any
corrections you would like to make to that summary?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I do not.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: So I would like to bring
it up, so that we can have it entered into evidence. It's WTSI1,
ending in 1. Okay. So this is your witness summary?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That's correct.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. Great. So we will
have that entered into evidence. Thank you.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And you've also sworn an
affidavit attaching the institutional reports for the City of
Ottawa for this Commission; correct?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I did.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Right. And the affidavit
is AFF3, if we can pull that up? Okay. And if we can Jjust zoom
in a little bit? Okay. So that is your affidavit; correct?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That's correct.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And the institution
reports that it attaches are OTT.IR.00000001. And if we can
zoom in? You recognize that as the City of Ottawa's institution
report?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I do.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And if we can go
to OTT.IR00000002. And this is the second institution report,
which is a timeline of events submitted by the City of Ottawa;
correct?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That's correct.

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.
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4 KANELLAKOS
In-Ch (Rodriguez)

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Right. And are you aware
of any changes that should be made to either one of these
documents?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I am not.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. So we'll have
those entered into evidence along with your affidavit.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: So just by way of
background, according to your witness summary and the
institution report, there are 10 departments within the City.
Each department has a general manager, and each general manager
then reports directly to you; is that right?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That's correct.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And one of those
departments is the Emergency and Protective Services?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That's correct.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And Mr. Kim Ayotte is the
General Manager for that department?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: He is.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And I understand that By-
law and Regulatory Services falls within Emergency and
Protective Services, and then that then subsequently reports to
Mr. Kim Ayotte, and then up to you as City Manager; correct?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That's correct.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And you're also the Chair
of the EOCCG when that group is activated; correct?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yeah, it's the EOCG.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: The EOC ---

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yeah, Emergency Operations

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.
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5 KANELLAKOS
In-Ch (Rodriguez)

Control Group.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And what is the Emergency
Operations Centre Control Group?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: It's actually the same
thing, but I think it's just wrong in the -- the acronym, it's
two Cs, it's only one C.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: It's only one C. Okay.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That's correct.

MS. NATALIA RODGRIGUEZ: Thank you for that. The
EOCG then. And my understanding is that the EOCG includes all
10 city departments, in addition to certain independent agencies
such as Ottawa Public Health, Ottawa Police Services and others;
is that right?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That's correct.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And as Chair, you have
final decision-making authority for matters that are within the
city's jurisdiction if there's a lack of consensus among the
EOCG members; is that right?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yes, I do, but I don't
have jurisdiction over the police chief, the medical officer of
health, or the chief librarian, the CO of the libraries. Those
officiants are under different legislation. I can't direct
them.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Right. So if it's an
agency that falls outside of 1 of the 10 departments, then you
don't have authority over those; is that ---

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That's correct.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And the lead

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.
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6 KANELLAKOS
In-Ch (Rodriguez)

agency for this particular emergency was which agency?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: It was Ottawa Police
Service.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And how was that
decided?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well, Ottawa Police is
responsible for maintaining public order in the City of Ottawa,
and under our incident management structure, police would be the
lead agency when it comes to public order issues. That's been
our practice for as long as I've been at the City for the last
22 years.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: So is it the case that
every time there's a demonstration, that's considered a public
order issue, and therefore, the police is the lead agency for
that?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That's correct.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. Does it depend on
the nature of the demonstration?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: No, if there's a
demonstration, the police are the lead.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. What about in the
case of a parade, for example?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well, even a parade, we
have a group called SEAT.

It’s an interdepartmental group including the
police that plans for parades and other special events. And
police have a role, but they may not necessarily be the lead if

it’s —-- depending on the nature of the event. Sometimes its

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.
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7 KANELLAKOS
In-Ch (Rodriguez)

just managed with Incident Command. But often police are still
seen as a lead for any gathering of people.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. Thank you. And at
the ELCG level, which I understand it is a City of Ottawa
emergency group, what kinds of decisions are taken at that
level?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: They’re very strategic
decisions. They’re really around policy. They’re looking ahead
in terms of what resources we might need into the future, the
sustainability of our staff, turnover of our staff, because
people in emergencies normally work, you know, basically every
waking hour on the emergency and we have to make sure we rotate
them out. We make sure that services in the departments are
sustained and they can continue. So this business continuity
for city services. And so it’s very much a strategic direction.
It’s not at the tactical and operational level at the 0OCG.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: So as city manager,
having all city departments reporting up to you, and as chair of
the ELCG, it is fair to say that you would have been aware of
any major considerations or any major decisions or actions that
the City would have taken with respect to the convoy?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Generally, yes.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. I'm going to take
you to OTT 101. And all of the OTT documents will end in .0001,
but I'm not going to say that. So it’s just OTT 101. And this
is an email that was sent to you.

If we go down to the bottom? All right. So all

the way to the bottom. Okay. So if we go up a little bit, just

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.
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8 KANELLAKOS
In-Ch (Rodriguez)

to see who this is from. Yeah, okay.
So we have Steve Ball. And do you know who Steve
Ball is?
MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yes, I do.
MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And who is he?
MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: He’s the President of the
Ottawa Hoteliers Association, I believe.
MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And this is dated
January 25th, so this is before the arrival of the convoy in
Ottawa. And he says:
“See note below. I spoke to this guy and
he gave me more info about the plan shut
down access to the city.” (As read)
And then he sends a message there, which says, in
part:
“The current count of transportation
individuals are estimated at 10,000 to
15,000 members, who will be attending for
a duration of 30 to 90 days from the day
of January 29th, 2022 to February 27th,
2022, extending to February 1st, 2022.”
(As read)
COMMISSIONER ROULEAU: April 1st,
MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Sorry, April 1st, 2022.
And my understanding is that this message that
was received by Steve Ball was somebody purporting to be on
behalf of, it looks like, a Canada United Truckers Convoy,

looking for hotels to stay in Ottawa? Is that your

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.
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9 KANELLAKOS
In-Ch (Rodriguez)

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yes, it 1is.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And after that message,

it looks 1like, if we go up, from Steve Ball, he sent it to

Mathieu Gravel. And he’s at the Mayor’s office? 1Is that

correct?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That’s right. He’s a

special advisor to the

Mayor.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And then he forwards that

to you and to Steve Box, and to Kim Ayotte, and then he says:

Okay.

“After having raised three plus million
through the crowd funding initiative, the
truckers are starting to reach out to
hotels to book stays of at least 30 days.
Steve Ball spoke to this guy and he
basically laid out the plan, which is
basically that they will leave their
trucks in place, chain them together, and
attempt to block all accesses to the city.
What is our level of preparedness to
respond to this should it go on for many
weeks or months? Who is our lead in
responding and presumably liaising with
the federal authorities? It would be
helpful if we could have a quick call
either today or tomorrow to share intel.”
(As read)

And then if we go up.

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.
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10 KANELLAKOS
In-Ch (Rodriguez)

So you received that on the 25th, and then it
looks 1like you say that:

“We are briefing the Mayor’s Office this
week once we have the info we need.” (As
read)

And then Serge Arpin says:

“Chief Peter Sloly has set up a briefing
with the Mayor tomorrow after council.”
(As read)

And so it looks like then my understanding is
that this information received from the Hotels Association was
passed on to the Ottawa Police Service?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: It was.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And it looks like
a meeting was held then on January 26%, which was the day after
this email, with Former Chief Sloly. Is that right?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I believe so, yes.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And was the information
in this email discussed?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I don’t recall if it was
discussed at that meeting. This information was shared with
Ottawa Police. I know that for a fact because we have our email
records that we sent it over. But I don’t remember if it was
actually raised in that particular meeting.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And if I could
take you to OTT 259? This is the email from Intersec on January
26th,

Go down. Yeah. Okay. There it is. And if we

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.
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11 KANELLAKOS
In-Ch (Rodriguez)

go up a little bit more just to show that it comes from
Intersec? And it came, actually, on the 21st of January, but it
was forwarded to the City on the 26th of January, if we go up a
little bit more. Yeah. And it says:

“The situation remains fluid.” (As read)

And it says, if we go up a little bit more:

“All open-source information and our
interactions with organizers indicate that
this will be a significant and extremely
fluid event that could go on for a
prolonged period.” (As read)

And that 1s under “Current information”, the
first bullet point there.

And so if we go up, it looks like you received
this email as well. Kim Ayotte forwards it to Steve Box and to
Beth Gooding, and then Steve Box forwards that to you?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That’s correct.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And do you recall
receiving this at the time?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yes, I do.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And if I could take you
to OTT 538? And this is dated January 26th., TIt’s from Riley
Brockington. I understand he’s a councillor?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: He is.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And he sent this to you
and to some other people at the City, including Diane Deans, who
was the Chair of the OPSB at the time? Is that right?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That’s right.

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

12 KANELLAKOS
In-Ch (Rodriguez)

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And in his email, he
says, 1in part:

“This isn’t just going to impact downtown,
but the entire city region. Many are now
saying shut down the city until the
restrictions are lifted. This is going to
last more than a weekend. The OPS today
estimated 1,000 to 2,000 to protest. No
way. Expect many more.” (As read)

So when he says that “OPS today estimated one to
2,000 to protest”, given that this is on January 26th, is it fair
to say that in the briefing that was given to council and to you
and the Mayor on the 26th of January, this was the number that
was provided to council and to you about what to expect in terms
of numbers?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well the numbers -- this
speaks to the information that we had heading into the end of
the first weekend. And the information the City was receiving,
even though we did receive information from other parties, just
as the hoteliers, was pieces of information that was fed into
police. Police were responsible, and are responsible, and have
the access to the intelligence and the information across the
country at the federal and provincial level to make the risk
assessment that we all need to participate in to be able to
respond appropriately.

So all of this information, it was moving around.
I think early emails had two to 300, or 50 trucks, and then it

kind of escalated as the week went on, I think from about

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.
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13 KANELLAKOS
In-Ch (Rodriguez)

January 24th, on. And the numbers were growing and they were
varying and there was different pieces of information coming in.

We rely on the police to gather that information,
collate that with all of the information they have, and make a
risk assessment to provide to the City in terms of the
strategies they’re going to take to mitigate that risk.

And so from my point of view, and I’ve been doing
this a long time, in terms of dealing with emergencies, it
wasn’t unusual to have a variance in the views of people who
thought it was going to be bigger, longer, you know, smaller.
There were all kinds of opinions on what that would be. The
only information we could rely on was the Ottawa Police in terms
of reliable information at that time.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And so in terms of the
City’s planning for this event, what basis did it plan on? Was
it on the basis of a prolonged stay that could last 30 to 90
days as the Hotel Association was suggesting? Or was it on a
different basis?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: The basis from Ottawa
Police and our work, because we were an integrated team, was
based on through the weekend, and maybe into the following week,
Wednesday, was the initial assessment heading into that first
weekend. There wasn’t an assessment that said it would have
been longer than that.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. So then it would
have been until maybe February 1st or so? Or 2nd?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I don’t know. I don’t

have a calendar in front of me. But that first Wednesday was

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

14 KANELLAKOS
In-Ch (Rodriguez)

when they thought the last of them might leave.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And the majority
of them leaving after the weekend?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That’s right.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay.

And this was information provided to the City on
the 26th of January?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That's right.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And who provided that
information?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Ottawa Police. Chief
Sloly was providing that information. I think we also had
emails and documentation in our EOC shared from the National
Capital Regional Command Centre participants heading into that
weekend.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And so in that weekend --
in that meeting, did anybody from the City say, "Well, you know,
we have different information. What's the plan in case this
goes on for longer, could potentially go on longer?"

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: No, because I think the
one thing that, from my experience and I think from the people
that worked with Ottawa Police for a long time, Ottawa Police
has extensive experience dealing with demonstrations in national
capital. They do that on a regular basis. Sometimes it's
almost weekly. So there's a lot of confidence. And they've
done it well over the years, over the last 20 years that I've
been involved. They've handled those demonstrations very well.

And people have confidence in their assessment of the situation

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.
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15 KANELLAKOS
In-Ch (Rodriguez)

to guide us in terms of what to expect and what posture we
should be at to be able to deal with the risks that were being
proposed.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And so in that meeting,
it's fair to say there was no discussion about conflicting
intelligence or conflicting information about the duration?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: 1It's just vague for me,
but I believe people were talking about what if, the what if
situations should they stay, and but I don't recall the specific
discussion.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And so did it
concern you then that you're hearing from other people that this
could be longer but the planning is only for the weekend?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: No, based on my
experience, that was pretty normal to have a variety -- almost
every protest we've had, whether it was the G8, G20, the
farmer's protest, the numbers vary widely leading into the
actual protest event. That is a normal situation, in my
experience.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. So you were
confident then that the City was prepared and that OPS was
prepared?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I was confident that we
were prepared for that first weekend, with the assumption that
they were leaving after the weekend.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And so how did that first
weekend go in terms of what you expected and what actually

happened?
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MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well, based on the
assumption that they were going to leave after the weekend, we
all thought it went quite well. There wasn't any violence.
People were protesting. It was managed. There were no major
incidents that weekend other than, you know, the honking --
there was —-- you know, there was the disruption to the
neighbourhoods and -- but from the perspective of if they would
have left after that weekend, it probably would have been very
much an insignificant event compared to what it turned out to
be.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Now, there are documents
that suggest that the City was upset about certain incidents
that weekend, such as the National War Memorial being
desecrated, the Terry Fox statue as well. Did that raise any
concern for you?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well, we were concerned
obviously with some of that -- those behaviours and what
happened, but, you know, in my timeline, it was a -- it was --
if it would have ended after the weekend, they were unfortunate
incidents and they were dealt with, and everybody would have
moved on and we would have cleaned up the city heading into the
following week. So from the perspective of, you know, could it
-- was that first weekend managed perfectly? They never are.
Were there incidents? There always are. Was there any extreme
violence or anybody seriously injured? No. Was there
incredible disruption to the people that lived in downtown, and
other people were disrupted by the physical presence of the

vehicles, the noise, the fumes? Absolutely. But in my window,
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three days of that, we could have got past that.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. So I want to take
you now to OTT10560, and these are text messages between you and
former Chair Deans.

That's okay. We're just waiting for them to be
pulled up.

THE REGISTRAR: Sorry, did you mean 105607

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: 10560.

THE REGISTRAR: Thank you.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And if we can zoom in,
they're on page 3. Let's go to page 3. Okay. And if we zoom
in a little bit more? Okay. And my understanding is this is a
text from Chair Deans; 1is that right?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That's correct.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And she says to you,

"Hi, Steve. Questions are being asked
about why heavy trucks were allowed
into the core. I have heard a couple
of explanations from police but wonder
what your thoughts are.” (As read)

And you say,

"The problem is that we don't have
enough locations that could park all
those vehicles and we didn't want them
just parking their vehicles in
neighbourhoods and other streets and
walking away. So it was a negotiation

to balance their need to get downtown
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and get them to park in controlled
areas." (As read)

So can you explain the rationale that you're
laying out here?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well, I'm reflecting the
discussions we had with police on the rationale for allowing
those trucks in -- into the core that first weekend. And the
assumption was that they were going to leave. They had previous
experience with the farmer's convoy where tractors and other
heavy trucks came into the core. They did leave after the
event. It wasn't a significant event from a policing
perspective. And the comment back here is that police made a
decision in terms of how were they going to manage the influx of
trucks coming in. And if the streets weren't going to be
closed, and basically, a zone created -- a no-go zone for
vehicles wasn't going to be created, the risk was they were
going to leave their vehicles on the 417 and neighbourhoods all
over the city and just walk away and leave the parks and disrupt
the entire city. And so the strategy, from what I understand,
it was to try and get them into a footprint to be able to
contain them and be able to manage the protesters in a smaller
area, so that's what I'm reflecting in that text message back.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And in terms of that
strategy, was the City consulted on that strategy?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: We were in the
discussions, but it's not our decision in terms of how the
police -- what Ottawa Police chose to do in terms of their

operational tactics to manage the event. But we were integrated
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with our Traffic Incident Management Group and others on the --
on our Emergency Operations Group with respect to facilitating
that decision, because once they made the decision, we had to
reroute buses. We had to reroute ambulances, fire trucks. We
had to change all our protocols in terms of being able to
sustain our services, the continuity of our services. Garbage
pickup, snow removal, all those things had to be looked at from
the perspective of how do we work around that area. And we had
to create an emergency lane within that zone, protect that
emergency lane for emergency vehicles. So, yes, we were engaged
in facilitating the outcomes or the mitigating factors to
support police in terms of their strategy.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And did the City inform
the OPS of the impacts that would result on the city because of
the strategy? So by-law infractions, trucks into, you know,
non-truck areas, effects on businesses and residence, was that
something that was communicated to the police?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I'm not aware if that was
specifically discussed in terms of a conversation. I don't
know.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And so what I
think you're telling me is that OPS made the decision, informed
the City, and you worked with them to achieve whatever changes
and modifications and accommodations needed to be made?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: The role of the City when
the police are the lead in an event like this is to support the
police and their activities. That's the role we played

throughout this entire three-week period.
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MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. Regardless of the
impact on residents and businesses and the city services?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well, we manage our Own
city services, but the challenge of course is -- and the City of
Ottawa can't direct me, the mayor, council can't direct the
police chief in operational matters, the decisions that he or
she are making. And so the City takes the -- they -- you know,
if you look at the structure of Emergency Management setup, the
City effectively is there in a support role for law enforcement,
to ensure that they can get what they need to be able to fulfil
their mandate.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And what did Chief Sloly
say was the basis for allowing the heavy trucks in, or having to
allow the heavy trucks in?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well, at the time, I
believe Chief Sloly and others were talking about whether they
had the legal authority to prevent the trucks from coming into
the streets based on their Charter rights. And that was the
rationale that I had heard at the time. There was also the
operational aspect based on the assumption that they were going
to leave, that keeping the footprint contained would be more
beneficial to the police to be able to manage the crowds and not
spread their resources too thin because it always is a challenge
for resources. And they also felt that from an egress point of
view, it would facilitate an egress when the protest was over
because then they could guide them out of the city from one
place rather than having to manage it in terms of multiple

places all over the city if the trucks happened to be parked
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there.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And if we go to page 5 of
this document, Chair Deans asks, “If the ones that have left
come back, will they be allowed downtown?” And then you say,
“No, once a truck leaves, no other trucks including the ones
that left can return into the zone. 1It's a bone of contention
with the truckers who feel that if one goes out someone else
should be left in.”

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Should be let in.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: Oh, let in.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yeah, I have that here,
so. Typical typo with auto correct.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: ©No, I thought maybe it
was my eyes. Okay. Can you explain that, that it was a bone of
contention with the protesters? Where are you getting this
information from?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: My understanding from
Ottawa Police was that once some truckers did leave -- there
weren't many, but some did leave -- that the remaining
organizers wished another truck to fill that space, because they
didn't have enough places to park them. So they were being
blocked from coming into that zone to try and limit the amount
of trucks once we realized that they had basically clogged up
the entire downtown.

So we were trying to keep them out of that zone,
particularly in front of -- in the downtown core, or on some of
the side streets. And so -- and then that kind of turned into

the notion, could be put somewhere else, on the Breton Flats or
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some other location, SJAM. They ended up on the Queen Elizabeth
Driveway. police were trying to manage where they could park
them and still manage them without spreading their footprint out
too wide.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: And we heard evidence on
Friday that trucks that were leaving the red zone early days
were being allowed back in. Do you have any information about
that?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That's contrary to the
information that I have

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And how often
would you say you were in touch with Chief Sloly during this
time?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Not often. They were more
formal meetings, so I had a few calls with him. He would call

me, or I would reach out to him, but most of our interaction was

on scheduled calls that we would have, either as a -- at the
staff level, or with our elected officials. Or with the
discussions —-- most of my calls with him were -- not most of my

calls, but several of my calls were also with the
intergovernmental calls with the federal and provincial
officials that we were talking to.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: Yes, and we’ll get to
those in a minute. And so do you agree that the City as an
entity through bylaws, has authority to close roads?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: We do have that authority

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. But in this case,

exercising that authority was not contemplated. Is that right?
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MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: No, because police took a
different strategy in terms of how were they going to manage the
protest. So we wouldn't close roads without the support of the
police partners, Ottawa Police in particular. Because if you're
closing roads and you're putting hard barricades, we had -- and
I had some counselors, you know, tell me that -- or ask me to
put barricades in front of streets, trying to block streets from
other trucks going in the neighborhoods. And the challenge most
people don't understand is that life still goes on despite the
fact you’re in this crisis, and that fire trucks, paramedics,
snowplows, garbage pick up, maybe water service crews if a pipe
bursts in the winter which we we’re having a lot of those, have
to get into those streets.

So 1f you’re blocking with a hard barricade any
street in Ottawa, unless you're closing the street completely,
and you're not allowing anyone in there -- but if residents are
there, they are obviously allowed to go back in -- you need to
staff that barricade with a physical person -- with a person who
can allow people to enter and access that depending on the
requirement legally.

And so, the notion that you know, we would close
streets on our own has been thrown out, why did the city of
Ottawa close streets? Well, we would never close streets
without the agreement, collaboration, and participation of
Ottawa Police to ensure that it aligned with their operational
plans, to ensure that they could stop them, and they had enough
resources to put people at the actual access, and that it didn't

impede with something else that they were planning with respect
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to managing the protest.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: So did the City ask the
police then, Chief Sloly or anyone else at Ottawa police
service, to look into that, to consider that, to work with the
City to achieve some road closures?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: No. There were road
closures after the fact, later on as the weeks progressed, but
initially, no.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: And then on February 4th
and 5th, which was the second weekend, there were several
additional convoys that entered the city. And I believe you are
aware of that at the time, that they, right?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yes, yes.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: And so, that wasn't - at
that point I understand they actually did go into the city, they
were not stopped or turned away in any way. Was there any
session prior to that to try to prevent them somehow from
entering and joining the existing convoy that was already
downtown?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well, I can't say it's a
categoric no. I mean, I think they were trying to guide them
and prevent them from entering certain areas, but there was
still the notion that we can't prevent them from their rights to
protest and come in, and that's the posture that was taken for
that second week.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: So for the second
weekend the posture of OPS was still that there was no legal

authority to stop them from entering on that second weekend?
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MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That’s right.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: And do you know whether
that posture ever changed throughout the -- at least throughout
the time that Chief Sloly was was Chief?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: There were some streets
blocked off later, in terms of trying to prevent them from
getting into some of the streets. We were able to stop them,
but that was later in the period. But the only time that the
Streets were actually closed off and barricaded, where the red
zone was created, was going to the third week, and then when the
Emergency Act was invoked, then it got locked down.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. Now, we have some
notes from the Ottawa Police indicating that the City had asked
Ottawa Police to harden the downtown core. Do you have any
understanding of what that means, or where this might have come
from, this solution?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: The City asked or police
asked?

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: The City asked the
police to harden the downtown core.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: There was --

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: Do you have any
information?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well, the only
recollection I have of that is those were elected officials who
wanted a hardening of the downtown core, and to prevent more
vehicles to come in, into the residential neighborhoods in

particular.
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MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: The councillors you
mean??

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: VYes.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. Now, you talked a
little bit about overflow spaces, Sir John MacDonald, which
everybody refers to as SJAM, and Queen Elizabeth. What were the
other designated overflow areas?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: There were two, there was
Coventry Road, which happened on the initial first weekend; and
the other one was 15 -- I think it's 1500 Bronson was another
area where police directed some vehicles in the latter days of
the protest.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. So let's talk
about Coventry. Do you know how the Coventry Road stadium
parking lot ended up being used by protesters on that first
weekend?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Police didn't have enough
room for all the trucks in the downtown core, and asked the
City, our General Manager of Parks, Recreation, Culture, and
Facilities, Mr. Chenier, Dan Chenier, if they could use that as
an overflow for the weekend, and Mr. Chenier agreed to allow the
trucks to go there for that weekend.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: And that parking lot is
city owned?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: It is.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That’s a -- for most

people know, that's the baseball stadium on Coventry.
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MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: That's right. And who
determined then the use of 1500 Bronson, how did that come
about?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Again, that was overflow
when they started moving vehicles on that -- on the last weekend
when police went into tactical operations, they were using 1500
Bronson two to the vehicles as a staging area to be able to
compound the vehicles.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: And my understanding is
that 1500 Bronson is a federal building?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That's right.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. So it's not owned
by -- that's not owned by the City?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: No.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: And the City wasn't
asked for permission to use that?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: No.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: But they were asked to
use the Coventry Road baseball stadium parking lot?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That’s correct.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: And me understanding was
that the use of that was only meant to be for the first weekend;
correct?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That’s correct.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: And my understanding is
that the tenants that were renting the space or not happy about
the -- what was happening at Coventry Road. Is that your

understanding as well?
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MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That’s right. They
expressed to us in writing that they wanted them out. They
weren't happy, it was disrupting their business, they were
trying to get ready for the baseball season.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: And in fact, they wrote
some angry letters to the City asking the City to revoke OPS’s -

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: VYes.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: --- access to that site.
Is that right?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That’s correct.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: And were these issues
raised with OPS?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: VYes.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: And what was the
response?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well, OPS didn't have the
resources to be able to remove the people that were encamped on
Coventry Road at the baseball stadium. At that point they
couldn't get them out. There was no way to remove them.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: And my understanding is
that it was initially meant for protesters to park and then make
their way into downtown, and it looks like that's not what ended
up happening. What's your understanding about how that area was
being used?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: VYes, that's exactly what
it was supposed to be. It was supposed to shuttle people back

and forth so they could go and join the protest, but it turned
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into an encampment, and I'd say, a logistical compound to
support the protest.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: And are you aware of any
safety or security issues with that site in particular?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I don’t have any personal
knowledge, no.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Did the OPS say anything
about why they couldn’t evacuate or get that encampment shut
down?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well OPS are on record
saying that they were worried about, you know, potential for
weapons there or violence should they go in. They were qguite
entrenched, according to Ottawa Police, and there were concerns
about their ability to go in and safely remove those people
without significant violence.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And I want to take you
now to OTT 4144. This is an OECCG -- oh, this one says OECCG.
Well, I guess we can use both acronyms. Update 10. And this is
on February 5th.

And these updates, I understand, were put out
daily? 1Is that right?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yeah.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And these are the
Emergency Operations Control Group putting out a situational
update as to what’s going on so that everybody is aware of the
situation on the ground? Is that right?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That’s right.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And in the second
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paragraph there, it says ---

MS. ANNE TARDIF: Sorry, counsel.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Yes?

MS. ANNE TARDIF: I believe this is a draft.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Yes.

MS. ANNE TARDIF: I don’t know if it’s been
finalized or not. I just can’t see the top of the document. My
apologies. You just said it’s the update. I think it’s the
proposed update.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: The final one is
identical, but it isn’t -- we received it after -- anyway, my
notes were not finalized at the time. So we do have the final
one, which says the same thing in terms of what I'm going to
take the witness to.

MS. ANNE TARDIF: That’s fine. I just wasn’t
sure. Thank you.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Yes, no problem.

So on the second paragraph, and the final version
says the same thing, it says:

“There were about 13 convoys that arrived
today, and unfortunately they refused to
park in the designated overflow space.
Instead, they came into the city.” (As
read)

And so in this case, what was the designated
overflow space on February 5t for them to go into? It wasn’t
Coventry, because I think at that point, Coventry had already

been taken over.
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MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That’s right.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Was it 1500 Bronson?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I don’t know.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: What about Sir John A.
MacDonald?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Sir John A. MacDonald had
some vehicles initially and then they added some more, but then
they stopped. They felt that was becoming a risk too because it
was getting -- it was being extended guite deep going west and
they were worried about blocking -- potentially blocking the
interprovincial bridge. That was a big concern of the police on
both sides, in Quebec and Ontario. And so they were trying to
protect that particular area at all costs. But I don’t know
where the overflow was for this.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And do you know how they
were able to come in despite there being designated overflow
spaces for those convoys?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: No.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And so can you confirm
then that the truckers -- the area that the truckers took up in
downtown grew because these 13 convoys entered the downtown
area?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Definitely.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And I'm going to take you
to OTT 10455. And this is a chat that seems to be among people
within the Emergency Operations Centre perhaps. And so I just
wanted to confirm who some of these people are, just so that we

can be sure that they are in some way related to the Emergency
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Management.
Beth Gooding,

Public Safety? Is that right?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS:
MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ:
MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS:

I believe,

KANELLAKOS
In-Ch (Rodriguez)

is the Director of

That’s correct.
And who i1s Nicole Ward?

Nicole Ward is a staff

member in the Emergency Management Group.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ:
MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS:
MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ:
MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS:
MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ:
MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS:

Manager of Emergency and Protective Services.

And Kelly Cochrane?

She’s also a staff member.
Okay. And Steve Box?
He’s my Chief of Staff.
Ryan Perrault?

He’s the Associate General

He’s on a

secondment there for professional development.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ:
Seymour?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS:
of Corporate Communications,
was kind of there,
Ottawa, Director.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ:
people representatives to the NCRCC?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS:

but she’s now -- at the time,

plus with Service Ottawa,

And Andrea Lanthier-

Yeah, she’s our Director
she

overseeing Service

So were any of these

That’s correct. Kelly

Cochrane was embedded with that

there’s a few other people, but

that were also part of the NRCC.

Public Safety Group embedded in

NCRCC and there was another --
I don’t see them on this list,
We had City staff from our

that group.
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MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And just for the record,
the NCRCC is the National Capital Region Control Group --
Control Centre?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Command Centre.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Command Centre. Thank

you. And so there seemed to be, in this chat, situational
updates. Can we generally take these situational updates as
accurate?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: VYes.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: So I want to talk a
little bit about towing. Who was responsible, in your view, for
ensuring sufficient towing capacity to tow convoy trucks or any
trucks that were parked illegally?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well towing is the -- you
know, it’s the responsibility of police and bylaw services. It
would be those two groups that have authority to tow trucks in
the City of Ottawa.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: So both the City and OPS?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That’s right. That’s
right.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And what happened with
the towing capacity in this situation? My understanding is that
there wasn’t sufficient towing capacity. So maybe you can
explain what happened? What the situation was?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well it became evident
early on that we needed to access heavy tow trucks, and they
aren’t a common vehicle. We explored what the City had in its

own inventory. We had two heavy tow trucks with OC Transpo that
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could have been utilized. Even though our staff were very
reluctant to participate and do that, because they felt for
their safety.

And we then started, at the NRCC, we ended up
calling tow truck companies, other cities, the Province, the
Federal Government, looking to see if we could access heavy duty
tow trucks for the use -- for our use in the event the police
needed them, or we needed them. And we were getting declined by
everybody we called, and that they didn’t want to get involved.
So we had no access to any tow trucks, other than the two that
we had, and our staff were reluctant to go in.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: So was the city taking
the lead then on procuring towing capacity on behalf of both the
City and OPS?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: ©No, both were doing it.

We were working with the police. The police were making calls
and we were also making calls for our sources. We found out and
tried to contact anybody we knew to see if we could get tow
trucks into Ottawa.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And were those -- were
any of those efforts successful?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: No, we didn’t get any.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And you mentioned that
some of the tow truck companies refused to tow vehicles that
were associated with the convoy, or they were not willing to
tow. What’s your understanding of why they were refusing to
tow?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well there were several
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reasons. The first was their own safety. I think they felt
that trying to tow a vehicle without the site being secured, in
amongst the protestors, you could imagine, you know, it could be
quite conflictual when you’re trying to take someone’s truck and
people are still around the truck. So they were concerned about
that.

They were concerned about the damage,
potentially, to their own vehicle, should things get out of
hand. And it’s a cost to their business.

Some were concerned that they do business with
truckers and trucking companies, and that would damage them
reputationally and they would lose business.

Some were sympathizers or supported the protests
and didn’t feel that they were going to offer their services to
do it.

Those were generally the reasons.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And these are companies
that the City has on contract? 1Is that right?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: ©No, the City does have a
towing standing offer, but we don’t do a lot of heavy equipment
vehicle towing. We have heavy equipment, obviously. Most of
our towing contracts are to tow parked vehicles in and around
the city who are illegally parked, or for whatever reason, or
for enforcement issues.

But yes, we do have contracts with tow truck
businesses in Ottawa who have, in their inventory, heavy tow
trucks to be able to use in the event one of our dump trucks or

heavy trucks needs to be towed, or any other situation.
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MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: So is your understanding
that the refusal was coming both from the existing contractors
with the City and with others that you were reaching out to?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yes, because we reached
out to our standing offer contractors first and they refused.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And would this be -- were
they contractually obligated to respond when the City called on
them?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yes, they were.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And what measures did the
City take to enforce these contracts, if any?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well it was a short time
frame. You can’t enforce it in a matter of days or weeks. But
certainly our procurement people and our lawyers were looking at
the contracts to start taking action against those tow truck
companies. But you couldn’t fulfill that in the time period
that we had and actually take any significant action to make
them do it. And even then, to make them do it probably would
have been a difficult situation at that stage of the protests.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And so the two heavy
truck, tow truck vehicles that OC Transpo had, did those end up
being used?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: No.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And why not?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well they -- a lot of
people, you know, have asked me, and at the time, were, you
know, demanding that we start ticketing and towing the wvehicles

out of that area in the neighbourhoods, and particularly on
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Wellington Street, but the reality is, until -- and you saw it
on the last weekend when police moved in and started clearing
the red zone, you need to secure the area where the actual
physical truck is, protect it before you can bring the tow truck
in and be able to move it out. You can't safely tow a heavy
vehicle like that that's end-to-end, bumper to bumper with a
whole bunch of other trucks, and civilian people and protesters
are all around that truck, and you're trying to bring in a heavy
truck, and police haven't been able to secure the scene. So
until you can actually hopscotch your way down the street, push
them back, clear the spot, get the truck out and move it and
then keep moving in a systematic way, it's a very volatile,
unsafe situation to bring in a tow truck into a very crowded
area, expect people to move, and expect the tow trucker to
somehow get in there and do their work when people are
potentially going to be resisting the ability of the tow truck
operator to do that.

So police weren't able to -- obviously, they
weren't able to clear that area and protect each individual
truck, so the tow truck could get in. So it wasn't -- it was a
non starter to be able to tow truck. Even if we had tow truck
companies, we wanted to retain them to have them available for
when police ultimately went in operationally or tactically, but
it was a non starter until that happened for us to think about
towing any heavy truck that was in the compressed areas on
Wellington Street, some of the downtown streets where they were
all bunched up.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And so do you know if --
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where the trucks came from that were eventually used for the
police operation that cleared the area?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well, once the authorities
came in under the Act, the police were able to get tow trucks to
actually come and compel them to come is my understanding. And
some of them came with the decals off their vehicles and, you
know, they came incognito so no one would know who they are, but
they then -- it just seemed to be a -- all of a sudden, we had a
lot of tow trucks available in those final few days before the
last weekend.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: But the City wasn't the
one procuring -- didn't procure those?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Police. Police did.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: The police did. Okay.

So does the City have any knowledge of where they came from
specifically?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: We do, but I don't have it
off the top of my head.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And can you give
us a sense for how by-law was being enforced outside of the
immediate red zone? So I understand that within the red zone
there were a lot of issues with safety, but outside of the red
zone, we heard on Friday that vehicles that appeared to be
associated with the convoy either because they had flags or
something indicating that maybe they were part of the protest,
that they were not being towed, even if they were outside even
as far as, you know, some areas of Councillor Fleury's ward,

east of the red zone. Do you have a sense for how By-law was
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enforcing issues outside of that zone?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well, it's difficult. I
mean, you can target vehicles based on the fact some may have a
flag on it, but it doesn't necessarily mean they're part of the
protest. So the market and other areas east of the zone where -
- on Wellington Street towards Elgin, the War Memorial, there
were all kinds of cars and people, people still live down there.
So the challenge for By-law was not towing and catching the
wrong fish in the net and towing vehicles that you think are
part of the protest who happen to just live in the area and park
there. So it was a very complicated situation for By-law. They
were ticketing. They were towing vehicles that were blocking
the emergency lane in the red zone. They were clearing that
out. And in the neighbourhoods, they were ticketing. They
started ticketing, but there were also a lot of protest vehicles
and people congregated in those side streets, and they were
working with police to ensure the safety of our By-law officers.
So when real activity started happening is when police and By-
law integrated into teams and went out together, which protected
the By-law officers. By-law officers aren't trained or equipped
to deal with those kinds of situations. That's not their role.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Do you know when that
integration happened?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I believe it was in the
second week, but I don't remember the date.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And what was happening
then?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I think it was when they
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did the surge and -- I forget the term police use, surge and
contain or -- I forget the term they use where they started
sending teams into the neighbourhoods. That's when they first
started integrating By-law with police, so that By-law had
security to protect them as they went in because they felt very
insecure about fulfilling their role in some of those more
volatile areas.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: So prior to that
integration, By-law was acting independently and ticketing and
towing as they saw fit?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Outside of the red zone.
In the red zone, no. They were guided by and working
collaboratively with police. Police were concerned about the
volatility that it might create if they started going in and
ticketing or trying to tow vehicles within the red zone. And,
you know, I was advised of that early on by Kim Ayotte. And
from my own experience, that seemed like a reasonable request.
I know people said -- well, there's a difference of opinion
whether police directed By-law, or it was done in collaboration.
Police can't direct By-law. Quite frankly, By-law can do what
they need to do under they by-laws of the city, but we were
working under an integrated incident management system, which
basically, police are the incident commander. They're leading
the response. The City is supporting and working in
collaboration, and it was a reasonable request. Whether it was
a direction or not is irrelevant to me, but when I heard that
and I was advised of that, I said, that's reasonable not to

expect By-law to go in on their own volition and enforce without
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police knowing that they're enforcing and creating a potentially
volatile situation in a crowded area, which police would have to
eventually respond to. And as our By-law Chief Roger Chapman
was concerned about the safety of our By-law officers by trying
to do that on their own.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: So then your
understanding is that the police was not preventing By-law from
exercising its authority; is that right?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: No, what I'm saying is
police and By-law agreed, whether they were directed or not.
There's a dispute about whether -- dispute, there's a
disagreement about whether police actually directed that By-law
not go in there. I think that's irrelevant. They had agreed
that they would not go in without police support.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And when you say go in,
you're talking about the red zone?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That's right.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And so outside of the red
zone, before the integration, could By-law ticket and tow as
they saw fit?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: They could, but there were
also areas that were also volatile, because once the truckers
displaced into the neighbourhoods, some of those streets,
particularly downtown on Kent, on Slater, on Bank, they were
jammed up with trucks and people, and it was the same situation
as on Wellington. So it was still a potentially volatile
situation. So By-law was using -- was still operating under the

agreement with Ottawa Police. And in other areas, in the market
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and some of the other areas where it was less volatile, they
were still issuing tickets as per their regular jobs, and in
other parts of the city.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. But not really
towing is my understanding.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: There was very limited
towing. Most of the towing initially happened in the emergency
lanes where some lighter vehicles, pickup trucks, et cetera,
were blocking the emergency lane that gave access to the
ambulances, fire trucks and other police vehicles in the event
there was a 9-1-1 call or whatever in that area, businesses or
whoever.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And so when you speak of
the OPS and By-law integration, is that when -- we had heard on
Friday that when some residents would call 3-1-1 to report a By-
law violation, they would be redirected to NCRCC. 1Is that part
of the integration that you're speaking of?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yes.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And you're saying that
happened sometime in the second week; correct?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: The second week is when
the police and By-law created integrated teams, that's correct.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I believe.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And so just on the point
of emergency lanes, my understanding is that a lot of the towing
that happened early on was to, as you say, keep those emergency

lanes open. Can you describe a little bit the emergency lanes,
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if you will? We've seen images that show some streets appear to
be completely blocked by trucks. Was every street supposed to
have a lane open for emergency, or was it just certain arteries
that had a lane open?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I don't know the
specifics. I believe it was certain arteries. I believe Mr.
Ayotte is now testifying and I think that'd be a question better
posed to him.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. Fair enough.

So I want to talk a little bit about the city's
municipal state of emergency. And I want to take you to
OPS5187. And this is from January 31st, which is pretty early
on. This looks to be a briefing that occurred with Chief Sloly
and the mayor and some councillors. You were there as well and
Kim Ayotte. It happened at 11. This is in the institutional
report of the City, so I assume you recall this briefing.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I do.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And so it looks
like the Chief gave an update. And then if we go to the
questions at the bottom. So “Questions”; there we go. And do
you know; the questions that are being posed, we can see who'’s
posing them, but in terms of the answer, do you know who was
answering questions at this time?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Just one moment. I just
want to review this.

(SHORT PAUSE)
MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Most of it would have been

answered by Chief Sloly or his staff.
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MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And if you go to 6, if we
scroll down a little bit, if we look at gquestion number 6,
Councillor Luloff says:
“When do we know when to invoke a state
of emergency?”
And the answer is:
“Infringing on this if we need more
resources than we currently have, but
does indicate to the public that this
is getting more serious and all hands
are on deck. Will consider and may
make recommendations to the Mayors
[sic] office.”
So who has the responsibility to recommend to the
Mayor’s office whether or not to invoke a state of emergency?
MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Ultimately it’s me, and I
usually receive that through Kim Ayotte, our General Manager of
Emergency and Protective Services.
MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And so is it fair to say
that you probably answered 6(e)?
MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That sounds like me, yes.
MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And then so then
you said:
“Will consider and may make
recommendations to the Mayors [sic]
office.”
Did you consider it at this point, January 31st?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yes, it was —-- it’s always
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under consideration when we were in that situation. And it’s a
question of timing, and declaring an emergency at the municipal
level doesn’t give the Municipality much other than a sense of
urgency, a sense of, “Hey, there’s some real issues here,” and
gets everybody focused. There are limited authorities that come
to the City by declaring an emergency at the municipal level.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And so you didn’t
recommend, I take it, on January 31st that the Mayor declare a
state of emergency?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Not at that time, no.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And why not?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Because as I said, there
was very little that it would give us. The biggest thing on a
state of emergency is, either get the attention of other levels
of government that we’re in trouble and we need help. Sometimes
the Province can declare before we do, or the Federal
Government, depending on the situation, obviously, but normally
it's the Province. And the other thing that the emergency --
declaration of emergency gives us 1is benefits around procurement
and decision-making, where the Mayor has more authority to make
decisions without having to convene a full Council meeting and
all the protocol, the process that goes behind that. So we can
be more efficient around our decision-making, our procurement,
the allocation of resources internally, but it doesn’t give the
Mayor any other powers with respect to -- other than the bylaws
we already have with respect to invoking any other authorities
that he may not already have.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Right. But as you
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mentioned, it does have other functions, such as signalling to
other levels of government ---

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yes.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: --- or even, you know,
for the public to know, and maybe for the residents to know that
the City is taking this seriously, right?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yes.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And did you ever tell the
Mayor not -- that it wasn’t -- that you did not recommend it?
Meaning, did he ever ask you and you say, “No, not yet,” with
respect to whether you should -- whether he should declare a
state of emergency?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I don’t recall having a
specific conversation, but I know we did talk about it. He
raised it. I know he raised the issue of invoking or enacting
or declaring an emergency at the municipal level, but I don’t
recall the specific conversations. But it was suggested.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: So we know that on
February 6t!, the City did declare a state of emergency. So in
your view, what was the tipping point; why was that the right
time to do it?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Because it became evident
that they weren’t leaving; police were reporting that they did
not have enough resources to end it. There was a sense that
this was going to be a prolonged activity by that point, and we
felt that by declaring it, we would effectively notify the
community and our organization that this was serious, and that

the Mayor will have the authorities that I talked about, the
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limited authorities to move quicker. And, quite frankly, and
it's in another email that -- from a meeting I was in —-- in the
minutes from a meeting I was in where I really felt and the
Mayor felt that we wanted the Province to also step in, because
they actually have authorities that they declare an emergency.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: So 1’11 take you to that
document. It’s ONT31l. And it looks to be a call between the
Federal Government, the Province, and the City of Ottawa. And
it took place on February 6t at 11:00 a.m. And so you recall
this call with Deputy Minister Stewart?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I do.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And who was there
from the Province?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: In this meeting, I don’t
know if anyone was here at the meeting from the Province.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I’d have to look at the --
there were so many meetings, I don’t recall the attendees of
each one.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. So if we go to the
second bullet point, it says:

“Steve Kanellakos, City Manager from
Ottawa, provided an update from the
city’s perspective.”

And it says:

“Steve Kanellakos is concerned about
the posture of local councillors who

are pointing the finger at the province
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and federal government to provide
assistance to resolve the matter.”
And then it says there in bold letters:
“Ottawa Mayor Jim Watson is going to
declare a local emergency in the City
of Ottawa at 4:30 p.m. The expressed
intent of this declaration is to put
pressure on the Premier to exercise
powers to resolve this.”
You said in the meeting that that was the
intention of the state of emergency.
MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: VYes.
MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And what kind of pressure
were you hoping to put on the Province?
MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well, up on that point the
Province was taking the posture that this was a law enforcement
issue, and that Ottawa Police should be dealing with -- the
Ottawa Police Chief should be dealing with the other Police
Chiefs and the OPP Commissioner and -- to get the resources they
needed, and that they weren’t going to get involved politically.
We were hoping that they would exercise powers around —-- you
know, through the Ministry of Transportation and other
legislations they had. I don’t know the extent of what they had
at their disposal, but through the regulations to be able to put
more pressure on the protesters to try and help us end it.
And so the provincial legislation, the Premier
has a lot more authority, in terms of powers, once he declares -

- he or she declares an emergency. And at that point -- up on
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that point, they hadn’t declared. I think they declared after

Windsor ---

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: On the 11th,

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: --- on the 11th,

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And so was part of this,
then, an effort for the -- was this trying to encourage the

Province or to signal to the Province to also declare a state of
emergency provincially?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: VYes.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And so from the City’s
perspective, did it consider that the Province wasn’t doing
enough to be engaged in the issues and to help resolve it?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well, I wouldn’t
characterize it as that. I would characterize it that the
Province, clearly through the Solicitor-General, felt that this
is a law enforcement matter that could be dealt with through
existing authorities that law enforcement have ,and that the
police should be working together to deal with the resources and
what they need under their existing powers to resolve this.
That’s the -- that was the initial feedback that we received
from them.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And then it says -- so if
we go close to the bottom, it says:

“Ottawa City council is likely going to
ask the Premier and Prime Minister to
intervene directly. The Mayor of
Ottawa Jim Watson is feeling the

pressure and want[s] this issue to be
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pivoted back to Ontario and Canada.
City of Ottawa is looking for a way
out.”

Can you explain what’s mean that by, “City of
Ottawa is looking for a way out”? What would you have
communicated that led to that notation?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well, the -- at the time,
it was obvious to me that unless we received more resources oOr
-- and got help from the federal government or provincial
government with respect to accessing some of the regulations
that they have under their authority, that it would be very
difficult for the current resources -- the resources at the time
that the Ottawa Police had and the City had at that stage in the
protest, where they were very entrenched, to be able to move
them out, and the feeling was that the federal government and
the provincial government would need to get more involved in
supporting our resources and giving us what other tools,
particularly around existing -- at that time it was around
existing regulations. The meetings we had with the Minister of
Transport -- or the Deputy Minister of Transportation at the
federal level and at the provincial level was about how do we
get access to -- you know, are there things we can do for
insurance around their CVOR are the things that they have at
their -- under their authority that we can put pressure on the
truckers to move them out without direct enforcement.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And we’ll see in a bit
that you did speak to the Solicitor General, you and the Mayor

had a discussion about what could be done. What -- generally
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before we look at those documents, what was the general feedback
from the Solicitor General to those suggestions?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: As I said, the Solicitor
General at the time was Sylvie Jones. She’s in a different
portfolio now, Ministry now. But she made it clear, my
recollection, that this was a law enforcement matter. It wasn’t
for elected officials to be getting involved in that.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And so had the
City declared a State of Emergency sooner, would that, you
think, have brought in other levels of government sooner to
assist?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: No, I think the
declaration of, at the provincial level, when things escalated
and we started having issues at the -- at a significant border
crossing.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. So I want to take
you to 2218. And this is now with respect to the City of
Ottawa’s injunction. So I'm going to move on to that topic.

So 1f you go to the first email there from Chief
Sloly at the bottom, he says -- this is dated January 30th,

Yeah, there it is. He says:
“Steve, thank you for the call we just had
and for your agreement too for the City of
Ottawa commence the former process of
preparing for and seeking an injunction in
regard to the demonstration. My general
counsel, Christiane Huneault, will be OPS

lead on this matter. She will have the
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full support of the OPS to provide the
information required by the City for this
injunction application. We recognize that
the City will have the final say on
whether or not to make the final
injunction submission based on your own
assessment.” (As read)

And what was your understanding -- you had had a
call with the Chief about this. And what was he asking the City
to do on that call?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well he reached out first
to our City Solicitor, David White, who effectively referred him
to me, because David White didn’t have the authority to proceed
with that. It was under my delegated authority. And Chief
Sloly asked me to -- he was looking for another tool in his
toolbox, based on discussion with his executive command, and he
asked me to look into the possibility of getting an injunction
to give them another tool in the toolbox to be able to do
enforcement to enforce some of the issues that were arising that
first weekend.

And I made a commitment to him that -- I spoke to
our City Solicitor first after he had emailed me. Then I spoke
to Chief Sloly and I made a commitment to Chief Sloly that we
would pursue it and work with his team to see what that might
look like.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And did you have an
understanding for what -- an injunction for what, exactly?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: No. It was very broad
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based in scope. It wasn’t defined at that time.
MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: So he didn’t come to you
to ask for anything specific? He just said “an injunction”?
MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: VYes.
MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And he says
though:
“We recognize that the City will have
final say on whether or not to make the
final injunction submission based on your
own assessment.” (As read)
So he seems to be putting the ball on the City to
say this is your decision. If you want to do it, go ahead,
based on your assessment; right?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well actually, in fairness

to Chief Sloly, I -- he’s writing what I asked him -- what I
told him. I said, “We will make the final assessment.” So he’s
confirming that in this email, of what I requested -- what I

advised him in response.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. So you’re saying
in the end it’s up to the City?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That’s right.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And on February
4th  T'm going to take you to an email, OTT 3935. And the email
of February 4 -- right. So, Councillor Fleury says:

“Are you aware of this idea?” (As read)

And he posted a Twitter link. My understanding
is that was a link to a Twitter post asking the City to seek an

injunction? Are you aware of that?
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MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I am.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. So you saw it at
the time?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yes.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And if we go up,
this gets forwarded to you then. Or it was -- it was CC’d to
you by Councillor Fleury, and then you respond to him and to the
City Solicitor, David White, copying other people, saying:

“Everyone has ideas, but if they paid
attention to the multiple briefings that
have been provided to council and the
media, they would know that the Chief, and
I, and City Solicitor have addressed this
idea. We have initiated the process last
weekend to go get an injunction. The
problem is that once we get it, we have to
action it, which means that police have to
be prepared to initiate a tactical
response to remove the trucks and
protests. We are working with police to
gather the evidence required to
successfully get an injunction and for
police to tell us how an injunction would
be enforced. This is actively being
worked on.” (As read)

So what was done between the 30th of January then
when you had that discussion with Chief Sloly, to now February

4, when Councillor Fleury is saying, “Has this been thought of?”
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Essentially, “Have you thought of this idea?”

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yes, the -- in-between the
conversation with Chief Sloly and this, discussions have been
initiated between the legal counsel of Ottawa Police and our
City Solicitor and his staff. And they were sorting out what
would be required to get one, and our City Solicitor, I don’t
have in front of me, but posed at least a half dozen questions,
maybe more, to the police solicitor, asking answers to the
questions to be able to successfully move forward with an
injunction. And my understanding is they never replied. They
were having discussions in-between, but they never replied in
writing to the questions our City Solicitor felt he needed to be
able to proceed.

And one of the concerns which our Solicitor had
and that I had, was that going and getting an injunction, if it
was broad in scope, rather than something very specific, but at
the time, the discussion was broader in scope, but it was never
properly defined, was that once we had it, there’d be a public
expectation that we would actually enforce it and go for
contempt. And the concern was, at that point, that police
didn’t have the resources to enforce a broad scope injunction,
to be able to do -- to basically get the benefit of the
injunction, and that erode public confidence, and I think our
community confidence, and our elected officials’ confidence,
because once we have that tool, they would rightly expect that
we’d be able to utilize it and get results for the things that
were happening on the streets of Ottawa.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: So you say that the
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police never answered the questions that the City was asking in
order to be able to finalize that ---

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: At that time, correct.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. Do you know if
answers were ever received to those questions?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: They were not.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: But the City went ahead
anyway and did obtain an injunction ultimately on February 147
Is that right?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: We did. We had to assess
at that point, you know, did they have the resources? More
resources were coming into Ottawa at that point. The police
presence was increasing. And we restricted it to basically
what’s in the City jurisdiction, which are City bylaws. We
didn’t broaden the scope of the injunction. So it was fires,
you know, parking and all those other things that were happening
on the streets, within our own mandate of council-passed bylaws.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: So in the end, you didn’t
need the police information in order to obtain the injunction,
because it was obtained without the police information anyway;
right?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That’s right. Kim Ayotte
swore to 1it.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And so in hindsight,
could this have been pursued sooner? Because you’re having the
discussion on January 30t with Chief Sloly, and it’s not
actually heard and obtained until February 14, two weeks later -

- more than two weeks later.
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MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: In hindsight, I wish
things would have lined up where we could have got an injunction
earlier, because it probably would have helped. But getting an
injunction where police weren’t in the position, from a resource
perspective, to deal with it, and not being able to define what
they needed, and that back and forth, it delayed it absolutely.
And you know, looking back, is that something that, you know,
could have been done sooner? Possibly. But we weren’t prepared
to go forward. I didn’t think it was reasonable to go forward
until we all understood how the injunction fit into the police
operational plans.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: But you never understood
that because they didn’t answer your questions?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That’s right.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And did the injunction
obtained by Ms. Li put pressure on the City to get one as well?
I understand citizens were not happy about that.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: ©No, absolutely. I think
Ms. Li did a remarkable thing and put herself out there, a lot
of courage, and got that injunction. And it had an effect. It
did bring down the horns. They kind of came back later, but it
had a significant effect. And of course there was pressure.
There was pressure from the public from our council not
understanding why the City wouldn't move to get an injunction
also. We felt that pressure, but we couldn't get to a place
where we understood what the scope of that injunction was in
terms of what police needed.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: But in the end you didn't
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need that because you defined the scope yourself; right?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: We did, vyes.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And did you ever talk to
Keith Wilson, who was counsel for some of the protestors on the
ground, about the City's injunction?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I don't recall talking to
Mr. Wilson about the injunction, but I stand to be corrected,
but I don't recall that.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. They have produced
some texts, kind of at the last minute, that have some of those
discussions. So my understanding is you did, I just don't know
the context of those discussions that you had.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: If I can see the documents
I might be able to comment.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: See if I can find it. It
would be up to -- we didn't give notice of these, obviously.
They came in, I think, last night or the night before, but we do
have a doc ID for them. Thank you. It's HRF1466.

THE REGISTRAR: I'm unable to locate that
document in the database.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: It appears it is in the
party database at this time. It's HRF, four zeroes, 1466.

Okay, while we're looking for that, we can move
on to something else and then we'll see if we can get that
because ---

MS. ANNE TARDIF: Sorry, Counsel, these are text
messages with Mr. Arpin? I thought you said these were text

messages with Mr. Kanellakos.
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UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: It is with Mr. Arpin, but
it mentions a call with Mr. Kanellakos.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: The texts seem to
reference a call with Mr. Kanellakos about that.

MS. ANNE TARDIF: Okay.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: So because we don't -- we
can't seem to get them, we can move on to some communications
that you had with federal officials and provincial officials.

So I understand that after the first weekend of
protests you had some contact with Deputy Minister of Public
Safety Rob Stewart. 1Is that right?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That's correct.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And how did that
discussion come about?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: His office emailed our
office, my office, and asked if a meeting could be set up later
in the day, and I think we had a telephone conversation, I
forget the date, but it was, I remember, late afternoon.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And what was the purpose
of the call?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: He had reached out to
connect because obviously they were -- the Deputy Minister
community there and the relevant ministries and the Prime
Minister's Office were -- was getting briefed on what was
happening, and he wanted to have a better understanding and the
situational awareness of what was happening on the ground from
our perspective so that he could relay that information back to

his Minister, and to the -- and to Cabinet.
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MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: So he's reaching out to
you to get a better understanding of what's going on?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: VYes.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And it wasn't necessarily
for him to offer any kind of assistance?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: 1Initially, no. It was
"Can we get together and have a conversation about situational
awareness? What do you know? What's happening?" They wanted
to know our perspective on what was happening.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And after that, I
believe that situational awareness calls were set up ---

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: VYes.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: --- and that several of
them took place, according to your witness statement, you say
February 3rd, 5th, 6th, 7th, and 8th?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That's correct.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And these came out
of that initial discussion you had with the Deputy Minister on
February 2nd?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yes. When we talked he
suggested that we bring together some of his colleagues,

Chief Sloly, myself, and initiate some calls to start getting
updates on a more frequent basis so they're in the loop.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And according to your
witness statement, these meetings sometimes included Jody Thomas
from the Privy Council Office; Director David Vigneault from
CSIS; Deputy Minister Michael Keenan from Transport;

Commissioner Brenda Lucki from the RCMP; Commissioner Tom
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Carrique from the OPP; former Chief Sloly; Mr. Kim Ayotte;
Laurie LeBlanc from MTO; and Deputy Minister Maurio Di Tommaso,
the Solicitor General. Did anyone else that you recall attend
these meetings, or is that generally ---

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yeah, that's generally the
list, but it grew. It didn't start off with all those people,
it kind of evolved over the meetings with more -- you know,
pretty typical. We started off with three, four people, and it
expanded as the meetings went on.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And what was the purpose
of these calls?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Initially, it was to get
everyone understanding what was happening on the ground, and for
them to tell us what was happening from their perspective. So
it was really and update in terms of what's the situation,
what's evolving, what's coming, and then it gets turned. After
a few meetings it turned into the whole issue of resources, and
police from other police services, particularly the RCMP and OPP
on those calls, being allocated or redeployed to Ottawa to
assist with the event.

And then it kind of evolved into when the request
was —-- 1t sort of started generally about resources, and after
it evolved into the specific request that Chief Sloly made
through the Police Board, where the letter was sent by
Mayor Watson and Councillor Deans, who was the Chair of the
Police Board at that time, asking for 1,800 officers, and part
of those 1,800 were civilians, with specialists, to be

redeployed to Ottawa. And then the discussions became a lot
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about what was happening, but when are we getting the resources
and how many resources we actually had received.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Right. So my
understanding is that letter from former Chair Deans and the
Mayor came on in February 7th requesting the 1,800 officers.

And so two of the meetings, on the 7th and the 8th, of these
situational awareness calls would have been or could have been
about that specific request.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: They dominated the
discussion.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And what was the
conversation around resources? Obviously resources were needed,
but in terms of getting them to Ottawa and how soon they could
get here and why they weren't here yet, what was the discussion?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well, the central theme
was a disagreement on -- between Ottawa Police and the other
parties at the federal and provincial level on how many officers
were actually here and under the command of Ottawa Police. That
was the most relevant part of the discussion.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And what was your
understanding of the disagreement? Just about counting -- like
it was improper counting, or what was the issue?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yeah, it was -- Ottawa
Police had numbers that they believed they had under their
command, and RCMP, and OPP less so, but mostly RCMP felt that
they had more officers there under the command. So there was a
disagreement about how many officers were actually under the

authority to be deployed in Operations by Ottawa Police
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commanders. And it was a frustrating period because we couldn't
get to an agreement on how many police officers were actually
here in Ottawa from outside from other enforcement agencies.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And did that ever get
resolved during those -- during the time that those calls were
taking place?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I would say no.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And the last meeting took
place on February 8. Why did they stop after the 8th of
February?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I don't know why they
stopped after the 8th of February. I don't know why we stopped
talking at that point.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay.

MR. STEPHEN ARMSTRONG: Counsel, I just wanted to
let you know that the document is available.

MS. ANNE TARDIF: We're going to object to the
document being put to Mr. Kanellakos. The document was listed
by counsel for the protestors as a document they may put to
Mr. Arpin only. It was never indicated to us that it was going
to be put by -- put to Mr. Kanellakos. So in accordance with
the rules, I believe my friends would need to seek leave.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: It was just to be fair to
the witness so that he understands the context in which the
qgquestion was asked, but I can ask it without the context, I'm
fine with that.

MS. ANNE TARDIF: Again, though, he wouldn't be

aware of the context. If it had have been provided, we
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certainly would have given it to him, but it hasn't been.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: That's fine.

So to your understanding, though, you did not
have a conversation with Keith Wilson about the City's
injunction, a call specifically with Mr. Wilson?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I just don't recall.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I may have, I just don't
recall.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Now, my understanding is
that based on the timeline produced in the institutional report,
that you and the mayor had a call with Solicitor General Sylvia
Jones on February 9, and we talked a little bit about that. And
my understanding was that the purpose of the call to ask Ontario
to provide resources to the Ottawa Police Service. 1Is that
right?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That’s right.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: To provide OPP -- to
facilitate OPP officers?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That’s right.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: 1Is that right? Okay.
And what was the response for that request?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I recall the Minister
saying that this was something the Chief should be dealing with
the OPP Commissioner on, and elected officials should not be
getting involved in this.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And in that call

what's the issue about the truckers’ insurance and CVOR
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certificates also discussed?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I think it was discussed
in a general way about what other things the province could do
to help police and the protest, or put pressure on the
protesters. But again, I believe the Minister said that this
was a law enforcement issue, and it should be dealt with by law
enforcement.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: So did the province
offer any tangible assistance?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Not with respect to
insurance and CVOR. They declined to look at that. The Deputy
Minister Laurie -- I forgot her last name, you had mentioned her
in one of the meetings.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: Yes.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: And I know Laurie, my
apologies to her, but she was the Deputy Minister.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: LeBlanc.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: LeBlanc, Laurie LeBlanc, I
believe she's retired now, but she was the Deputy Minister of
Ministry of Transportation, and she was on a call where that was
specifically -- with the other Deputy Ministers, not this call,
where that's question was specifically proposed to her, and she
basically said that she'd have to go away and get back to us,
but never did.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. So my
understanding is that you also took part in what were called
tripartite meetings, and these took place on February 7th, 8th,

and 10th, TIs that right?
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MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That's right.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: And did you participate
in all three calls?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I did.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And my
understanding is these were intended to be meetings of all three
levels of government, municipal, provincial, and federal. 1Is
that right?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That’s right.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: And my understanding is
that generally, Minister Blair, Minister Mendicino, yourself,
the mayor, Deputy Minister Rob Stewart, and some others joined
those calls. Is that right?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That’s right.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: Do you know off -- do
you recall who else would have been on those calls other than
the people I mentioned?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: From the provincial level
there were no elected officials, I seem to recall, they didn't
attend. I think Mario Di Tommaso might have been on one or two
of those calls. He was the Deputy Minister of the Solicitor
General I believe.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: My understanding is that

he was in the situational awareness calls, but not in the

tripartite.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yeah, that’s what I'm -- I
thought he was in the tripartite, but I'm not sure. He may have
been. But I don't think anyone else from the province was
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there. It was all federal and us.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And do you know
why —-- my understanding is that Premier Ford was invited to
participate in these meetings and declined. 1Is that your
understanding as well?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I know he declined, but I
don't know why.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And so I'm going
to take you to one of the readouts from that meeting, it is
SSM.CAN.NSC ending in 2676. And so, this is a read out from one
of those tripartite meetings, it looks to be the last one on
February 10, and there we see people’s initials. BB is Bill
Blair, my understanding; JW, Jim Watson; MM, Marco Mendicino.
And if we go to the second page, it looks like your
contributions are redacted, and on the second page Mayor Watson
says, “We would like to get MTO more involved, put pressure on
insurance companies --". Oh, sorry, just up. Yeah, there we
are:

“We would like to get MTO more
involved, put pressure on insurance
companies -- it was a disappointing
answer from the province. Yet they are
always setting up blitzes on the 400
series highways to check tires, etc.”

So my understanding is that this is in relation
to the call that took place the day before on February 9?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yes.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And was this in
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relation to the ask about the commercial insurance that they had
declined to get involved?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yeah, and other possible
regulations that governs heavy truckers or trucking companies.
And I don't know if it was the meeting before, I don't have it
in front of me, but it was at one of the meetings with the
Deputy Ministers that we had federally and provincially, but it
was just very close to that.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: And so in terms of other
regulations, were these other regulations that the City was
asking specifically, saying you know, this regulation, that, can
you look into that? Or were you simply saying, can you look at
what you have in your toolbox available to assist?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: It was exactly that. It
was what you have that can help us in your toolbox under
existing legislation and regulations? That was the specific
request.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And the answer
was this is not -- this should not be dealt with at the
political level?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well, there were two
answers. From the Deputy Minister it was, I'll get back to you.
I think she felt kind of blindsided at that meeting because no
one told her in advance as she was going to be asked, and I
think it was asked by one of her federal colleagues, actually.
Because I think the Deputy Minister of Transport for -- at the
federal level, looked and they didn't have anything that could

help us that was relevant, because it's all mostly provincially
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regulated. And the question was posed to Laurie LeBlanc and I
think she was -- she seemed to be a little miffed that she got
put on the spot and basically said, I’11 get back to you, I'll
look into it, and never did.

With Minister Jones, it came up in a general way,
but that position she took as Solicitor General is this is
Police Chief, to Commissioner, to Police Chief, and that's where
this should be dealt with, not through us.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: Was it ever suggested to
you that pulling truckers commercial insurance, or doing
anything with respect to that would upset the trucking industry,
or would upset the truckers themselves?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: No, I didn’t. There was
no further response in terms of specifics, no.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. But -- and it was
never said to you there's nothing more in our toolbox, we can't
do anything? The answer was simply, we’ll get back to you, and
they never did?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That’s what I'm aware of,
yes.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And then if we go
to page 3, if we go down to Bill Blair’s comment, so he says:

“Thanks -- if we can speak frankly for
a moment. It has come to the media’s
discussion that they are not in this
meeting for the third day -- statement
from On[tario] is that this table will

accomplish nothing”
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So is it fair to say that in the meeting there
was frustration at Ontario's lack of attendance?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yes.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: And when Bill Blair says
“this table” he means the tripartite meetings?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yes.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: And to your
understanding, this comment that's attributable to the Premier,
that it will accomplish nothing, was that made in the group or
was that made in the media? Do you know?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I’'m trying to find that on
the page, counsel, I'm sorry, where is it?

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: Just -- Bill Blair at
the top says, “Thanks -- if we can speak frankly for a moment”.
He says, “It has come to the media's discussion that they are

7

not in the meeting..” and I assume this is talking about Ontario,
because then it says “statement from On[tario] i1s that this
table will accomplish nothing.”

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I don't recall
specifically what it was, but he was obviously reacting to
something that was put out by the province.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: But I don't know what it
is.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And so if we
looked at the bottom at mayor Watson's comment, the third line

he says:

“"I can say that I am disappointed that
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the province has not come to the table
-— Premier is telling me, ‘anything you
want’, but then there is silence.”

Did you share the mayor's disappointment that
Ontario was not at the table?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Did I share that? Not
entirely. I mean, I think I was disappointed that they didn't
participate, but they stated that their position was. But
certainly OPP and Commissioner Carrique were very participatory
and collaborative in terms of bringing resources. So there was
never any issue from the policing sources, OPP it was probably
the least amount of discussion about the resources they had
committed early on. They were true to their word in terms of
what they committed, from what I understand.

So from my perspective, you know, OPP was doing
what they were asked and we're being very helpful, but the other
ministries were not participating, and I think that was you
know, obviously a direction from their political masters.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: And what do you mean by
that?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I mean I think that Deputy
Ministers won't engage unless it's clear from the Premier and
others that they are able to engage, to participate, in terms of
seeking out other alternatives and other tools for the toolbox.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: So your understanding is
that then the Premier would've told them not to look into that?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That’s a speculation.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: Yeah.
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MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I just know that Deputy
Ministers will not speak out of turn without being in alignment
with their bosses.

MS. NATHALIA RODRIGUEZ: Fair enough. now, on
page 4, Minister Mendicino, in the middle of the page, says --
just this -- towards the end:

“To the extent that Sloly is laying out
the plan to colleagues, the Province
should be at this table. It is a useful
forum to show leadership and
coordination.” (As read)

So do you agree that it would have been helpful
to have Ontario at the table?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: VYes.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Now, back to page 2,
where it says “RS”, and we’ll go down.

That’s Rob Stewart? Is that right?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That’s right.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And he says:

“From what I understand, the plan of the

Chief has not yet been completely fleshed
out. That may affect the speed with which
the RCMP can deploy resources.” (As read)

What did you understand -- what was the
discussion around this point?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well what that references
is that the wvarious commanders from OPP and RCMP, but he was

speaking specifically to RCMP, didn’t feel the operational plan
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that was eventually enacted was ready for them to deploy the
resources to participate in the plan. So there was an ongoing
discussion, from what I understand from these meetings, about
the readiness of the plan and the assessment of the plan by the
commanders in the RCMP and the OPP reporting back through their
chain of command.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And this was the last
tripartite meeting on February 10. Do you know why they were
discontinued?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I don’t know.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: I want to speak now about
the deal that the City made with the protestors, the
negotiations with the protestors.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yeah.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Now, I understand that on
February 8, you received a call from then Deputy Chief Bell?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I did.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And can you tell us a
little bit about that?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: You want to just hear that
call? Or the ---

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Tell us about the call
that you received. What was the discussion?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yeah, I was on my way into
work early that morning and I received a call from then Deputy
Chief Bell, who said that he was sending over his Police Liaison
Team, they want to meet with me, and they want to come over

first thing in the morning to discuss opening up some line of
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communications with the protest leaders. I said, “Okay. What
time are they coming?” And he said, “They’1ll be there, you
know, somewhere after 9:00.” I said, “Fine.” And that’s all he
told me.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Did he tell you why PLT
was going to be coming over with protest leaders?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: He didn’t give me any
details. He Jjust asked if I would meet them if they came to my
office.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And you didn’t ask what
for?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: No. I just said I’'11 wait
until they get here.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And did you tell
anyone about that call before you met with them?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: No.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And so what
happened then? Did they come to City Hall? How did that play
out?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yeah, the acronym is PLT,
Police Liaison Team, and four officers came to my reception area
in my office. The lead was Sgt. Lee (Phonetic). I don’t recall
his first name.

They came and basically advised me that
communications had broken down with the protest leaders and that
they weren’t communicating anymore with the PLTs. This was a
significant issue in their ability to continue to try to

negotiate on the ground in terms of the things they needed to
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do, and that they had asked to meet with someone from the City
as a show of good faith, you know, I’'m paraphrasing what he told
me, my recollection of it, from someone from the City and they
want to meet with me to be able to discuss the situation and

what’s happening.

And I had -- I was reluctant when he first told
me. I was —-- I would say reluctant to say why would I meet with
him was -- we never had any intention, the Mayor, myself, the

Mayor’s Office, anybody on my team had any intention of meeting
with the protestors. That wasn’t on our radar or anything we
were planning to do.

But they were imploring me to meet with them
because they needed to show that they could actually get me to
the table to have a conversation with them. As a sign of good
faith, ---

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Did -- sorry, did they
explain to you why -- did they say why they had lost the
communication ---

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: No.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: --- with the protestors?
What had happened there?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: No, they didn’t tell me,
no.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And at that point,
I wasn’t convinced that I should meet with them, because I felt
that that was opening up another door in terms of a signal that
we’ re prepared to start negotiating. I told them that I need to

call the Mayor. And we brought Serge Arpin, Chief of Staff,
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into the call. So I went into the next room, in my boardroom,

called the Mayor, told him that they want me to meet with them

and to have -- as a show of good faith, to -- police need us to
meet with them.

He was very reluctant. His initial reaction was
we shouldn’t and thought that doing that was going to put
pressure on the Federal Government in terms of, you know, if we
meet with them, someone else would have to meet with them.

And Serge Arpin was of kind of the same view. So
we batted it around a bit and I basically advised the Mayor that
I thought I should meet with them and hear what they have to say
and maybe there’s something we can get in return, and “It won’t
involve you, it will be me, it will be me doing the discussion,
and you’re out of it. 1It’s not a political leadership meeting.”

And so —---

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Did the Mayor express any
concerns about this?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: He basically -- he didn’t
tell me not to meet them, he didn’t tell me to meet them. He
accepted that at the end, I said, “I'm going to meet them.” I
basically made a statement that I'm going to meet them. So he
didn’t say “don’t” and he didn’t say “do it”. But he was
reluctant at the beginning. The first part of the conversation
was he just thought it was a bad idea.

And so I went back out and told him that I would
meet with them, the protest organizers. I didn’t know who they
were bringing. I didn’t know who the parties were. Well Lee

said “Great.” They left and they ran over to one of the hotels
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where the participants were and they came back a couple of hours
later, probably around noon, with three people: Tom Marazzo,
Keith Wilson, and Eva Chipiuk, I believe is how we pronounce her
last name.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Yeah.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I don’t know if I got that
right. And they arrived with the four PLT members.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And sorry, this was
around noon, you said?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: It was probably around
noon, if I recall. It was several hours later, over to now 1:00
o’clock. Around that area, that time.

And so they came in and we had another boardroom
down the hallway in City Hall at the Heritage Building. And Tom
Marazzo asked if he could speak to me alone, and we went into
the boardroom alone and everyone else waited outside, the four
police officers and the two lawyers, Keith and Eva. And Tom and
I began having conversation about why they’re here, his
background, what happened to him, his story. Just getting to
know each other, basically. And so he explained why he was
here, what the issues were, what happened to him in terms of the
vaccine mandate, et cetera.

And then we talked about -- we talked about, from
my recollection, that, look, you know, if you’re -- they wanted
a meeting with the Mayor. And I basically advised them that if
they were going to have a meeting with the Mayor, they have to
show something in good faith back.

And that was the discussion when the PLTs first
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came to see me, when I came back out from seeing the Mayor, I
forgot to mention that, is I said, “Well if I want to meet with
them, I need to get something back in return. I’m not going to
meet with them just for the sake of meeting with them.” And the
police officer suggested, “Well, maybe we can start getting them
—-— ask them to move the trucks out of some of the

44

neighbourhoods. I said, “Well that would be a good thing, to
try to relieve the pressure on those people in those
neighbourhoods if they would agree to do that.”

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: So OPS was the one who
made the suggestion that maybe the exchange for meeting with the
Mayor would be getting the trucks out of the neighbourhoods?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That’s right.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: So when we were talking to
Tom, and I don’t remember if it was exactly with Tom or when
everyone else came in, when Keith and Eva came in after, ---

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Sorry, when Keith and Eva
came in after, did the PLT officers also join? Or was it just -

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: They came in also.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yeah. So they all joined
the meeting at that time.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And then we had a
discussion about the protest and would they be willing to move
trucks out of the neighbourhocods. They said yes, they’d be

willing to do that. And we said well then we have to work out
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the logistics, and they’1ll get back to us.

So we met for about, in total, about an hour and
a half, I'd say. Maybe 90 minutes. They left with the
understanding that we would reconnect and talk about what the
terms would be of them moving the trucks and the conditions
under which that would happen, and get an agreement to do that.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: What was your
understanding for why the protestors wanted to meet with the
Mayor?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well they didn’t tell me
specifically, but I assume that it was a symbolic significant
gesture that somebody -- nobody was meeting with them of any
official capacity at the political level. And I would think
that, you know, you’d have to ask them when they testify, but I
assumed the Mayor was a first step in trying to open the door to
meet with the Prime Minister or someone senior at the Federal
Government.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And so at the end of the
meeting, what was decided, who would do what, what were the next
steps that were going to be taken after that meeting?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: We -- I think we exchanged
the numbers, and then we said that we'd get back. I don't
recall exactly, that we'd reconnect with each other, and start
talking about that. Then, you know, a number of things happened
after that in terms of updating the mayor and Serge later in the
day, and updating Chief Sloly. Those are all other aspects ---

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Yes.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: --- I'm sure you'll get
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to.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Well, my understanding is
that the next day you did indicate to Chief Sloly and Deputy
Chief Ferguson, Deputy Chief Bell that this had taken place, and
relayed a little bit of the information that had been exchanged;
is that right?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I did. I told the outcome
of the meeting with the PLTs and with the protestors ---

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And did ---

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: --- protest leaders.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Did they express any
concerns about that?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well, there were a couple
of points. I mean, it depends where we are in the story here.
We hadn't at that point figured out the logistics of -- or the
terms of what the agreement would be. That happened later in
the week and didn't get finalised until Sunday, the 13th, I
believe. So at that point, it was more an indication of what
the -- I gave an overview of -- to Chief Sloly and his team on
what the discussion was, what they had asked for, and what we
were going to pursue in terms of -- or what we were going to
start pursuing in terms of trying to get an agreement to move
trucks out of the neighbourhood.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: So at that point, the
deal was if you move trucks out of the neighbourhood we'll have
a meeting with -- we'll facilitate a meeting with the Mayor. So
it was kind of high-level.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That was the concept,
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that's right.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Right, that was the...
So no details had been fleshed out at that point?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: None.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. So you exchange
numbers, you brief the Mayor about what had happened, and then
what happened?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well, about two days
later, and I think it was on the 10th, we -- the Mayor received
a call or a text, I'm not sure, I never clarified that, but he
was put in contact or he was contacted by Dean French, and Dean
French told the Mayor that, you know, the Mayor can speak for
himself, but my understanding was that he was trying to help and
that he was trying to help to get a resolution to this agreement
that we had. And the Mayor passed on Dean French to Serge
Arpin, and I believe they had a conversation, I don't know
exactly what they talked about, and then Serge Arpin gave Dean
French my number, and he contacted me and basically announced
himself as a helpful third party that was going to try to
mediate between the two to try and come up with an agreement.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. So then you became
the point person for that?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: No, I became -- I became
the point person to get to the place where the logistics were
agreed to, but the actual negotiation of the terms of the letter
that was eventually sent to Ms. Lich and that she replied back
agreeing to was done mostly through Serge Arpin and the Mayor's

Office.
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MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I was engaged in that, but
the negotiations were happening between them.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. So between
February 8th, when you have the meeting with the PLT members and
Tom Marazzo et al., and then the 10th of February when the call
from Dean French comes in, was there any kind of movement on
that deal between the 8th and the 10th?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: No, the -- it really
didn't start moving until -- the 10th was -- I'm trying to think
of the date. What date was that? The 8th was Monday, the 10th
was a ——-

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Well, I know the 13th was
a Sunday.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yeah, so the 10th was
what, Wednesday?

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: It would be a Thursday.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Thursday.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Yeah.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: You know, that's something
for Mr. Arpin to answer in terms of what discussions were taking
place at that point, but things didn't really start taking shape
until later in the week, early weekend, and it wasn't until
probably Sunday morning, the 13th, that I saw a draft in terms
of the terms that's in that letter that was made public.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: So you weren't involved
in the drafting of the letters?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I was involved in
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providing some advice on the drafting of the letters based on my
discussions with police. So Serge checked with me in terms of,
you know, where the trucks would go and some of the other
information on the -- in the letter, but ---

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: So specifically, the
letter talks —---

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: --- I wasn't ---

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Sorry. Specifically, the
letter talks about Wellington Street. Was that one of the
points of discussion with OPS?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: It was generally, yes.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. So then, if I
understand correctly what you're saying, on the 10th, Dean
French called and announced himself as potentially being helpful
or a potential mediator, and then the letters were drafted and
sent I believe on the 12th of February, and in that time you
were having discussions with Chief Sloly, was it Chief Sloly, or

anybody else within OPS? Deputy Chief Ferguson?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: No, it was -- there were a
couple of calls. The one call, the final call was before the
letters went out on -- at -- 1t was over noon hour on the

Sunday, the 13th. It was right to wire in terms of when the
letters finally were approved.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay, so they're dated
the 12th, but you're saying they were exchanged on the 13th?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That's what I believe, but
I could be corrected.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And so while
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they're being finalised, your involvement is putting -- getting
some input from OPS and suggesting some wording to the letter,
including the area where the trucks are going to relocate to ---

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yeah.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: --- is that right?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yeah. Serge had various
drafts, he was going back and forth, I don't remember the
drafts, but, you know, different language, and we were -- I was
providing some edits and some advice on the final language in
the letter.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And why was Wellington
Street chosen? Who chose Wellington Street?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well, that came up as part
of the discussion, initially I believe with the protestors,
where -- the protestors leaders, my apologies, the leadership,
where there was no other place to put the trucks. There were
very few options in terms of where to put the trucks. And the
discussion was that we wanted to reduce the footprint in the
area to get them out of the neighbourhoods and have them more
condensed in one more manageable enforcement area. And so
Wellington Street was an option, but it was understood that
Wellington couldn't accommodate all the trucks from the
neighbourhood as there just wasn't enough room.

So part of the discussion was with some of them
agreed to move to a site, I believe it was in the West End,
Amprior or some other site they had, if they could go there.
They wanted to get them on to SJAM, we didn't want them on SJAM,

so there was discussion internally about the parameters of where
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1 they might go. And that's what translated into the logistical
2 meeting that we finally had on Sunday night, the 13th, when

3 Superintendent Drummond and myself and Kim Ayotte met with a

4 group of representatives.

5 MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. So before we get
6 to that meeting, before the letters were finalised I understand
7 that Chief Sloly had a chance to look at those letters; is that
8 right?

9 MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: He received a -- I'm

10 trying to think if he received a draft or not because he sent me
11 an email asking for a -- asking me for a -- an edit, but it was
12 too late because the letter was finalised.

13 MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Right. And actually,

14 that's OTT6985, so I'll take you to that. OTT6985. So he says,

15 "Thank you, Steve," but if we go down to the bottom we can see:
16 "'Steve, as suggestion, alter this line
17 in the Mayor's letter: "As the

18 departure of the over 400 trucks from
19 residential areas is a significant

20 logistical undertaking that will

21 probably take 24 to 72 hours, we ask

22 that protesters stop asking more

23 demonstrators to come to Ottawa this

24 week and over the long weekend..."'"

25 So it looks like that highlighted portion of

26 "this week and over the long weekend" was an edit that he wanted

27 in that letter; is that right?

28 MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That's right.
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MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And if we go up. You
say:

"'Hi Chief. The letter from the mayor
has already been signed and sent to
Convoy leadership. It just hasn't been
made public. So can't make edits now
but can discuss when we meet them.'"

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yeah, we ---

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And then he ---

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yeah, we sent him the -- a
version of the letter they obviously had, and he wanted to make
an edit, but at that point it was too late.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And if we go to OPS10664.
We go —-- there we go.

It looks to be from Christiane Huneault, and she

says:
"'Steve - Can you send me a copy of the
letters we just discussed on our call
re demo convoy negotiations. Thanks.'"
And who did you understand her to be?
MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Who was she?
MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Yeah, Christiane
Huneault.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yeah, she's the general
counsel to the Police Service and reports to Chief Sloly.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And she mentions a phone
call that you had with her about the letters.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I think she was on the
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call, the noon hour call. It wasn't a phone call specifically
with her. I think she participated in the noon call with
Chief Sloly, Deputy Chief Bell at the time, Acting Deputy
Chief Ferguson, myself. I think Kim Ayotte was on the call
also. So we had a call at noon hour, and she's -- my
understanding from this is Christiane Huneault is following up
on that phone call.
MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: I see, and this would be
on February 13th at noon there was a call?
MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: On the Sunday, that's
right.
MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: On the Sunday? Okay.
And if I can take you to OTT6990? It looks like on Sunday at
1:44 you send those letters to Chief Sloly, Deputy Chief Bell,
Deputy Chief Ferguson, Christiane Huneault and John Steinbachs.
MR. STEVEN KANELLAKOS: That's correct.
MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And if I can take you to
OTT7009? Looks like title is Police Contact, Sunday the 13th at
3:26. You say to Chief Sloly,
"Chief, can you please provide the name
and contact info of who will be joining
Kim Ayotte in the negotiations with the
Protest[...] leaders to deal with the
egres [and]..."
I believe that should be "and"; right?
Relocation plan?
MR. STEVEN KANELLAKOS: VYes.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And what is that
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about?

MR. STEVEN KANELLAKOS: Well, when the letters
were sent, we agreed that we would meet that evening because we
wanted to get this going as fast as possible, and that they
would send a representative group to City Hall to meet with
myself, Kim Ayotte and a senior police official to deal with the
logistics, because Kim and I were in no position, as I said
earlier in my testimony, to arbitrarily dictate where trucks
would move or to be able to manage the relocation logistically.
We needed police to be able to do that, to facilitate that and
negotiate that and ensure that the relocation plan was
consistent with any future plans they had or any safety issues,
officer safety issues, et cetera.

And so what I was asking Chief Sloly, and I
believe it was the subject also on the call, that we needed
someone senior to be part of the discussions on the logistics
for the actual relocation of the trucks.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And who was provided?

MR. STEVEN KANELLAKOS: Acting Superintendent Rob
Drummond.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And what did you
understand his role to be then, just to -- was he going to be
partly negotiating what was going to happen?

MR. STEVEN KANELLAKOS: Well, he wasn't negotiate
-— there wasn't going to be -- well, I suppose it could be
characterized somewhere as a negotiation, but Acting
Superintendent Drummond's role was to work out the operational

details right down to where, when, who, logistics. Like, he was
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leading that on our behalf when the group came to see us in the
mayor's boardroom on Sunday night. And so he had the map out
and they were mapping out how it would work, who the contact
people would be on the police side, who the contact people would
be on the protester's side. So he was basically laying out how
that operation would unfold the next morning.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: But by then, the idea
that they would be relocating to Wellington had already been
determined ---

MR. STEVEN KANELLAKOS: Yes, yes.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: --- right? Okay. And in
your call earlier that morning, or at the noon call, did anybody
on the call, Steve Bell, Trish Ferguson, Peter Sloly, did
anybody raise any concerns with the arrangement that had been
reached?

MR. STEVEN KANELLAKOS: Yes, Chief Sloly raised
concerns about the resource requirements to be able to enact
this kind of operation, depending on the scope. He was
concerned about his ability to do that, and he was concerned
about, you know, the -- what happens if we go through all this
effort, it's not successful, we're back to square one, and we
put a lot of resources into it. So he expressed that concern.
The two deputy chiefs, the acting and the -- Chief Bell and
Acting Deputy Chief -- Deputy Chief Bell and Acting Deputy Chief
Ferguson both expressed that they supported this because it
would reduce the footprint and make it more manageable for their
resources because they were spread too thin covering that large

a geography. And so they expressed support for the movement of

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

90 KANELLAKOS
In-Ch (Rodriguez)

the trucks.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And so despite Chief
Sloly's reservations, did he ultimately agree that this should
move forward?

MR. STEVEN KANELLAKOS: I don't recall that he
actually said he agreed, but he didn't object to the point where
-— because he could have, obviously, stopped it but he didn't.
But he didn't -- I never heard him say we're a go. He was
basically silent on that point.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Right, but he did provide
you Superintendent Drummond as a —---

MR. STEVEN KANELLAKOS: He did.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: --- OPS representative?

MR. STEVEN KANELLAKOS: He did.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And so now we're
at this meeting February 13th. You said it was you, Mr. Ayotte
and who else was there?

MR. STEVEN KANELLAKOS: I don't remember but his
name -- 1t was on the list. Superintendent Drummond was there.
I think -- trying to remember, Keith -- Keith Wilson was there -
- no, Eva was there, Keith Wilson was there I believe but maybe
not. TI'd have to go back -- you'd have to go back to show me
the document. I don't remember the other people's names. Tom
Barber was there, I know that.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Chris Barber?

MR. STEVEN KANELLAKOS: Chris Barber, sorry, was
there.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Yeah. Was Tom Marazzo

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

91 KANELLAKOS
In-Ch (Rodriguez)

there?

MR. STEVEN KANELLAKOS: No.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: No-?

MR. STEVEN KANELLAKOS: I don't remember him.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. How many protest
individuals would you say were there? How many protesters were
there?

MR. STEVEN KANELLAKOS: I think there was six of
them all together.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay.

MR. STEVEN KANELLAKOS: I don't know if Keith
Wilson was there. I just -- 1f I saw it in front of me, I saw
the document in terms of the notes that Acting Superintendent
Drummond took, but I don't remember.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Yeah, I don't know if
they're available. They weren't available yesterday, but I'm
not sure if they're available now. But in any event, there were
a group of protest leaders that were there, you, yourself, Mr.
Ayotte. And we don't have a lot of time, so if you can just
briefly maybe tell us what happened at that meeting and then we
will have to get my friends to pick it up from there.

MR. STEVEN KANELLAKOS: Effectively, we, you
know, we discussed how i1t could unfold, the -- what the
expectations were, what we all wanted. The people that
represented the protesters were clear that they don't represent
all the protesters, so they're going to have some trouble
getting everybody convinced based on who was on the streets to

all participate and move. And that they would be going out that
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night and working truck by truck, talking to everybody to get
them in line -- or on line to support the movement because it

was a good thing for them. And they also made it clear that not

everybody will want -- some people may not want to go to that
other alternate site, the farmer's area they rented. I think it
was 1in Arnprior, but I don't remember. And that they wanted to

extend the footprint of it more down to Deschamps, but we said
no. And Rob Drummond was effectively leading those discussions
in terms of where the trucks would go, how they'd be placed, and
as I said, how that process would work in the morning, who'd be
assigned out there from Ottawa Police.

And so when we left the meeting, it was
understood, we had a map of where the trucks would be moved,
what areas we wanted to clear out, and Rob went back then to
talk to his command and the NRCC and incident commanders to
bring the resources required to be able to do that. And we left
that night after a couple hours and the operation started the
next morning.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And I understand at some
point the operations stopped. Do you know why it stopped?

MR. STEVEN KANELLAKOS: Yeah, mid morning it
stopped because -- and there was some exchanges I think I had.

I don't know i1if it was a phone call or text with -- I was mostly
communicating with Keith Wilson at the time, where he was
expressing that what he was being told on the ground is that
there was miscommunication between some of the police officers
and what the orders were and -- or they -- the operation was and

weren't allowing some trucks to move onto Wellington.
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Eventually, that got sorted out and they did move a number of
heavy trucks. I think the count was around 40, but that's still
in dispute. And a number of light trucks also left, and we
ended up clearing a number of streets. But, yeah, there was
some communications issues, some logistical issues where some of
them, my understanding was some of the light vehicles didn't
want to move and were blocking other vehicles from moving, so
there was —-- there wasn't an alignment of purpose by everybody
that was in -- on all those streets. They had different reasons
for wanting to stay.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And I'm just going to
take you to the last document, OTT7480. And this is an email.
If we go down -- yeah, no, sorry. This is 7480. Yeah, that
does look right. Okay. Let's go up for a second. Yes. So
Larry Brookson, do you know who he is?

MR. STEVEN KANELLAKOS: Yes, I do.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Who is he?

MR. STEVEN KANELLAKOS: He's the -- I believe his
position is he's the director of the parliamentary precinct
security, but I've known Larry -- I know Larry personally.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Oh, okay. Yes, because
the email is quite informal, so I figured you must have had some
pre-existing relationship with him.

MR. STEVEN KANELLAKOS: Yeah.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: He says,

"Hi, Steve. My office is looking to
setup a call [this] morning. Wanted to

provide you with some context of my
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concern regarding the City of Ottawa's
recent decision which lead to
Wellington being turned into a parking
lot of 200 plus trucks.
Quite honestly Steve I am at a loss as
[...] how this sort of agreement could
have been worked out with a clear
disregard to security, especially
considering that we just finished a
bomb blast assessment which included
the threat of explosive[s] being
transferred via large vehicles.

Hoping we can find time in the morning.”

So 1s it your understanding that PPSC -- sorry,
that PPS, the Parliamentary Protective Service, did not have
notice or information about what was going to be happening with
the relocation of the trucks onto Wellington?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well I'm not going to
speculate on that, but I do know that the PPS was embedded in
the National Capital Regional Command Centre. They are a member
of Intersect. I know that Mr. Brookson had spoke to Chief Sloly
the late afternoon the day before when the trucks were being
moved.

So, you know, I think it’s a fair assumption for
me to make that Mr. Brookson was well informed in terms of what
was happening on the ground from a situational awareness
perspective and, you know, the bomb blast assessment, gquite

frankly, I'm not disregarding it, but it was a little late then.
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We already had hundreds of trucks up on Wellington Street to be
concerned about moving another 40 trucks up there.

So I -- you know, he -- that’s his role, to take
care of the security of the Hill. And it’s an important role
and I respect that. But at the time, I felt that Mr. Brookson,
when he reached out to me, had the information, especially after
he spoke to Chief Sloly. And I spoke to Chief Sloly after he
had spoken to Mr. Brookson, and Chief Sloly advise me what the
conversation was about, where he informed him what was
happening. So I know there was some reporting, but I didn’t
call him back. The events kind of overtook things on the 15th,
Chief Sloly was in the late stages of his tenure and the deal
had fallen apart in terms of moving the trucks anyways, up onto
Wellington Street by Tuesday.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And so —-- and did
you tell anybody at the federal level, yourself, about this
deal? I know February 8 is when you kind of had that
discussion. And it also coincided with the tripartite meeting.
Is that something you would have brought up at a tripartite
meeting?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I told -- I'm not sure
when, but I know I told Rob Stewart, the Minister of Public
Safety, and I also sent Rob Stewart the letters that were agreed
to -- the agreement letters.

MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: And so ultimately the
Mayor never met with the protestors? 1Is that right?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: They never fulfilled their

end of the bargain, so he never met with them.
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MS. NATALIA RODRIGUEZ: Okay. Thank you. And
those are all my questions.

COMMISSIONER ROULEAU: Okay. Thank you. So we
went a little bit over, which I regret. And the -- but we’ll
take the morning break at the moment, and we can start with the
cross-examinations right after the 15-minute break.

And I will show a little latitude in cross-
examination, given the excess of -- in the direct, which is
pursuant to our rule when in-chief, where the evidence presented
by the Commission will be matched in terms of cross-examination
time.

So 15-minute break. We’ll be back at five
minutes to 12:00. Thank you.

THE REGISTRAR: The commission is in recess for
15 minutes. La Commission est levée pour 15 minutes.

—-—- Upon recessing at 11:40 a.m.
—-—— Upon resuming at 11:55 a.m.

-—-—- STEVE KANELLAKOS, Resumed:

COMMISSIONER ROULEAU: Welcome to the second
phase of the evidence, which is the questioning by the various
parties.

So 1f I could call on the Convoy Organizers to go
first?

Okay.

So there’s some technical issues with the
document production? Okay.

Okay.

Well can the Ottawa Police Service then go ahead?
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-—-— CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DAVID MIGICOVSKY:

MR. DAVID MIGICOVKSY: Good afternoon, Mr.
Kanellakos. My name is David Migicovsky and I act for the
Ottawa Police Service.

Mr. Kanellakos, I understand that David White, in
his email to you, and I can pull up the email if it will assist
you, but in the interest of trying to shorten my questions, I
wont, but if you do need it, please let me know.

My understanding is that he said to you on
January 30th that obtaining an injunction to shut down a protest
was an extraordinary thing given the Charter of Rights. Do you
recall that?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I do.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVKSY: And what Mr. White told
you at that time was that OPS’ concerns were, and this is the
first weekend, correct, were the noise, the traffic impact, and
the public frustration and pollution; correct?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Correct.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVKSY: But from his perspective,
there weren’t any public safety concerns or violence?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Correct.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVKSY: And Mr. White also told
you there was an issue as well from his perspective about the
potential that enforcing the injunction could give rise to
violence as well?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I seem -- without having
the document in front of me, I seem to recall that, vyes.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVKSY: Okay. And that same day I
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understand you then spoke to Chief Sloly and he indicated that
OPS would support the City in providing the injunction, but you
made it clear it would be up to the City to decide whether to
seek it? Would have the final say?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That’s correct.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVKSY: And you ultimately did
instruct Mr. White to proceed with that injunction?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I did.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVKSY: The names Omar Ansari,

Mary Simms, and Stuart Huxley, those are individuals who work in

the City’s legal department?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That’s correct.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVKSY: And they report to David
White?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That’s correct.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVKSY: And my understanding is,
and perhaps if you need the document, I can show it to you as
well, my understanding is that Mr. White was informed that the
OPS said they could provide evidence of the vehicles and the
registered owners? 1’11 pull up the document, if that would
assist.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: It would, thank you.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVKSY: If I may please have
OTT296957

Sorry, I wonder if we could scroll down? I may
not have said the correct document.

COMMISSIONER ROULEAU: It’s over there, they’re

scrolling, I think.
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MR. DAVID MIGICOVKSY: Thanks. Never mind, I’11
proceed without the document.

Ultimately the City was the one, I understand,
who made the final decision about an injunction on February 11th
and then proceeded on the 14th? TIs that correct?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That’s correct.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVKSY: And there were cooperation
with the Ottawa Police in working with the City on that
injunction; correct?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I believe so, yes.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVKSY: And in fact, I believe
that from the Ottawa Police, you obtained -- the City obtained
some language with respect to what the enforcement clause of the
injunction should look like?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I don’t know that
personally. That’d be better posed to Mr. White.

COMMISSIONER ROULEAU: Can you speak just a
little louder, please?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Oh, I'm sorry. 1I’'m sorry,
Mr. Commissioner. It was working fine before. I’11 just put it
a little..

MR. DAVID MIGICOVKSY: Sorry, what was that
answer? I had a hard time hearing.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I said I wasn’t -- I’'m not
aware of that personally. That would be better posed to Mr.
White.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVKSY: And although there hadn’t

been written responses to the questions that Mr. White had
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posed, there had been verbal discussions between the party’s
legal ---

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That’s correct.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVKSY: --- staff? And from time
to time, I take it, you were kept apprised of some discussions
between the OPS and its policing partners, such as the OPP and
RCMP?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Could you elaborate better
in terms of what aspects?

MR. DAVID MIGICOVKSY: Sure. Were you made aware
that the OPP and the RCMP, various officials there, had
expressed serious reservations about the police getting involved
in injunctions?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Not at the time.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVSKY: Did you subsequently learn
that?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yes, in preparation for
this hearing.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVSKY: And you then understood
that the Commissioner of the RCMP and the Commissioner of the
OPP both had some concerns about injunctions in the context of
these type of protests?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yes, I did.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVSKY: I think you told us Ottawa
has lots of protests and demonstrations; correct?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Many.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVSKY: And it’s a fact of life.

And again I can turn to the document if you need it, but there’s
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a series of text message exchanges you have with Mr. Ayotte in
which you’re discussing an article -- this was on January 30th —-
that someone sent you talking about the sentiment of the
citizens in Ottawa as of January 30th. And your response to Mr.
Ayotte with respect to the article that had been sent to you is
that it’s a bit naive for somebody to believe that the police
and the City should have just prevented the protest from
happening. Do you remember that?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yes, I do.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVSKY: And we’ll be hearing that
some of the convoy that came from out west, and I guess was the
first group to leave, were annoyed by the fact that by the time
they got to Ottawa, all of the prime spots on Wellington were
taken up by others and that they were too far away with their
trucks. Do you recall that?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: No, I don’t have knowledge
of that.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVSKY: And I understand that on
Friday, January 28thk is when the convoys started to arrive in
Ottawa.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: VYes.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVSKY: And the major impacts at
that time were on Wellington and the Sir John A. MacDonald
Parkway.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Initially, yes.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVSKY: And I understand we will
be hearing that the spaces filled up very quickly. Is that your

understanding as well?
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MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yes, I do know that.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVSKY: And once they filled up
very quickly, it would not, I believe, was your perspective, be
a viable solution on its own of ending the protest by simply
towing vehicles; correct?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I did not share that view.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVSKY: You ---

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I shared that view; sorry.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVSKY: Right, thanks.

And on January 30th -- and again I can turn up the
document but in the interests of time I won’t unless you need
it, so please do let me know if you need it. On January 30th,
there’s an exchange that you have with Councillor Menard, and he
asks about the option of having the vehicles ticketed and towed.
And then Mr. Ayotte forwards it to you and expresses concerns
about that approach, and I think your response is you agreed,
and you said:

“...where would we put the vehicles
that are towed??”

Do you recall that?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: VYes.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVSKY: And on February 6th, 2022,
I understand you have an exchange of texts with Kim Ayotte about
towing the wvehicles, and Mr. Ayotte points out to you that with
500 vehicles in the core, towing obviously isn’t an answer, and
you agree that towing these big rigs will not solve the problem.
And if I could ask, as well, i1if we could please turn up

Documents OTT01239, and if we -- that is 012397
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I'11l find the document if you need it; I'm just

going to refresh your memory, but perhaps you’ll agree with me,

I think what -- the point you make in a series of exchanges in

which you’re discussing Councillor Fleury’s request is:

“No way can you tactically tow a heavy
truck in this scenario, the way they
are parked nose to tail, and it would
require a huge amount of police
resources.” (As read)

You agree with that?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I do.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVSKY: And a few days later I

understand the City made an agreement or an agreement was made

with the Mayor which in fact resulted in some additional trucks

moving on to Wellington; correct?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: We did, yes.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVSKY: With respect to the City’s

authority with respect to streets, I understand that the City

gets its powers from various statutes; is that right?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yeah, and internal bylaws.

We have delegated authority bylaw; we have traffic and parking

control bylaw that we can use to close streets.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVSKY: And you agreed, as I

understood your evidence this morning, and I believe in your

institutional report you’ve agreed that the City independently

does have the authority to close down roads and highways;

correct?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: The City does, yes.
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MIGICOVSKY: And they have that

authority both under bylaws as well as under statutory

authority; correct?
MR. STEVE

MR. DAVID

KANELLAKOS : That’s correct.

MIGICOVSKY: And I understand, though,

that you work cooperatively with police when you do exercise

that authority.

MR. STEVE

MR. DAVID
Freedom Convoy, the City
to close down roads; for

MR. STEVE
police.

MR. DAVID
well?

MR. STEVE

MR. DAVID

KANELLAKOS: Always.

MIGICOVSKY: And in fact, since the
has exercised its delegated authority
instance, for Rolling Thunder?

KANELLAKOS: Yes, in collaboration with

MIGICOVSKY: And for Canada Day as

KANELLAKOS: Yes.

MIGICOVSKY: And so in effect, since

the protest the parties have, in effect, created exclusion

zones, 1s that right?
MR. STEVE

MR. DAVID

KANELLAKOS: That’s correct.

MIGICOVSKY: And in fact 1f we could

turn up Document OTT26171? If we could scroll down, please? I

think that’s the bottom.

So you’ll

see Councillor Leiper is proposing a

motion; I don’t know if you recall that.

MR. STEVE

MR. DAVID

KANELLAKOS: I do.

MIGICOVSKY: And the motion being put

forward by Councillor Leiper is for the General Manager of
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Public Works to work with City Councillors to close some roads,
to diminish the volume of vehicles able to access the downtown
core. Do you recall that motion?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: I do.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVSKY: And that was, I guess, his
concern was the weekend coming up of February 19t and 20th. And
Mr. Gonthier, you’ll see if you scroll up, then shares that with
Kim Ayotte, and says that the City does have -- the last
sentence:

“While we have the delegated authority
to close roads, I would suggest in this
case we would only proceed to do so if
supported by OPS.”

And you agree that that’s an accurate -- that’s
an accurate statement?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well, that’s -- well, at
that stage, based on what was happening in the City, we wouldn’t
be closing roads, without the support of OPS, unilaterally.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVSKY: Thank you.

One of the -- I'm just moving on to talk about
the issue of ticketing. And one of the concerns expressed by
Councillors was the present of trucks built or parked on the
Queen Elizabeth Drive and the request by some councillors to
have them ticketed as of January 30th,

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: VYes.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVSKY: Do you recall that?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Yes.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVSKY: And you’ve expressed the
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view that you did not see what ticketing would accomplish in
that scenario, is that right?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well, would you like me to
expand, or just say “Yes” or “No”?

MR. DAVID MIGICOVSKY: ©Sure, feel free.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: You know, ticketing, it’s
like everything else; you can give someone a ticket and if they
don’t care they got the ticket and they’re willing to pay, no
action necessarily results from the ticket. 1It’s like your car
parked on the market and you get a ticket, your car still stays
parked there with a ticket on the windshield. So without some
kind of enforcement action to move it, the truck basically stays
there. People might feel better that we ticketed the car or the
truck, but the truck’s not moving unless we actually tow it.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVSKY: Correct. And I guess you
would -- and I can call up the document. It’s OTT29632.

And while they do that, I understand that this is
a series of text messages between you and Mr. Ayotte?

And if we could turn, please, to page 11 of the
document.

And if you look at 10:08:32, then you can read up
above just to give yourself a context. But one of the concerns
that Mr. Ayotte expressed about this is ticketing will also
anger the demonstrators.

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: Well, that was a concern
for sure.

MR. DAVID MIGICOVSKY: And in fact, there had

been experiences, in fact, we see in the next line below a
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situation in which demonstrators got aggressive in another
scenario; correct?

MR. STEVE KANELLAKOS: That's corr